
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, OCTOBER 07, 2024 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of September 16, 2024. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 

business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Receive and file bids received for the sale of $4,520,000 General Obligation Loan Notes, Series 
2024. 

3. Resolution directing the sale of $4,520,000 General Obligation Loan Notes, Series 2024. 

Old Business 

4. Pass Ordinance #3079, amending Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to the purpose, eligibility for license, conditions for issuance of license, approval 
required, application for approval; granting of approval, suspension or revocation of approval, 
location and operation-generally, and location and operation-exemptions, upon its third & final 
consideration. 

5. Pass Ordinance #3080, amending Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to the Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of office; and 
qualifications, upon its third & final consideration. 

6. Pass Ordinance #3081, amending Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to work performed within city right-of-way or property, upon its second consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #3082, repealing Section 3-46, painter’s or erector’s license, of Chapter 3, 
Advertising, and Section 7-93, Bond; guarantee of service, of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building 
Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances, upon its second consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #3083, amending Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to Insurance, and Chapter 25, Vehicles for Hire, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to liability insurance required, upon its second consideration. 

9. Pass Ordinance #3084, amending Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to bond and issuance, Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of 

1



Page 2 of 3 

Ordinances relative to unlawful dumping; filling on private land, and Chapter 13, Licenses and 
Business Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances relative to bond, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

10. Receive and file the City Council Committee of the Whole minutes of September 16, 2024 relative to 
the following items: 
a) UNI Update. 
b) Discussion of Cedar Falls Economic Development Corporation Contract. 

11. Receive, file and refer to the Planning & Zoning Commission a communication from College Hill 
Partnership relative to renewal of the College Hill Partnership Self-Supported Municipal Improvement 
District (SSMID). 

12. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Fleet Farm, 400 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) Fleet Farm Fuel, 108 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
c) Murphy USA, 518 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
d) Casey's General Store, 1225 Fountains Way, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
e) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
f) Fleet Farm Fuel, 108 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - change in ownership. 
g) Shelly O’Shea’s Irish Pub, 401 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

13. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

14. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
887 Maucker Road. 

15. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
1119 Calumett Drive. 

16. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
1309 State Street. 

17. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to cleanup/remove debris from 
the property located at 2013 Maplewood Drive. 

18. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
5719 Westminster Drive. 

19. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow the property located at 
6000 Chancellor Drive. 

20. Resolution approving and adopting the rate of $3.89 per $1,000 taxable value for the Downtown 
Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID) for FY2026. 

21. Resolution approving and accepting a Warranty Deed for property located at 1621 East Ridgewood 
Drive relative to the North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project. 

22. Resolution approving and adopting 2024 Small Area Fair Market Rents (SAFMRs) payment 
standards for the Housing Choice Voucher Program relative to the Section-8 Housing Program. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for professional services with 
Urbana Preservation & Planning, LLC relative to the historic reconnaissance survey of the Overman 
Park Neighborhood. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. relative to the Prairie Parkway and 
Viking Road Intersection Improvements Project. 

25. Resolution setting October 21, 2024 as the date of public hearing on the (FFY23) Consolidated 
Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funded activities from July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024. 

26. Resolution setting October 21, 2024 as the date of public hearing on proposed amendments to 
Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to allowing accessory dwelling units in all 
zoning districts that allow single-unit detached dwellings. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

27. Allow Bills and Claims for October 7, 2024. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:15 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Laudick led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
 
54957 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of September 3, 2024 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54958 - The Mayor then asked if there were any agenda revisions. City Clerk Kerr noted 

a scrivener’s error in item #19 of the resolution calendar and stated that Council 
has been provided with an updated agreement. 

 
54959 - Mayor Laudick read a proclamation recognizing September 17-23, 2024 as 

National Constitution Week. Barb Gregerson commented and accepted. 
 
54960 - Jim Kerns, Cedar Falls, commented on the values of the Arts and asked that the 

city increase the budget in areas that are directly related to Art & Culture.   
  
  Dennis Pruckler, Cedar Falls, expressed concerns with the addition of the 

Whitewater Park downtown and provided Council with a handout showing the 
benefits of removing the Island Park dam. 

  
  Robert Irk, Cedar Falls, co-founder of Share the Stoke, commented on BMX 

Extreme Sports and Tondro Pray Bike Park and requested more upkeep for the 
park and more BMX friendly locations. 

 
  Jacob Clark, Waterloo, co- founder of Share the Stoke, requested more attention 

and funding for the Skate Park and Tondro Pray Bike Park (TPBP). Clark 
announced an Event being held on October 19, 2024 at TPBP at noon.  Mayor 
Laudick and Councilmember Dunn commented. 

 
  Kim Jordan, Cedar Falls, commented on the former Sartori property and 

requested more funds be invested in the property and expressed her wish for a 
new hospital at that location. 

   
54961 - Director of Public Works Schrage provided an update on the Aldrich School 

Street connections construction. Schrage responded to questions by 
Councilmember Latta. 

 
54962 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3079, 

amending Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to the purpose, eligibility for license, conditions for issuance of license, 
approval required, application for approval; granting of approval, suspension or 
revocation of approval, location and operation-generally, and location and 
operation-exemptions, be passed upon its second consideration. Following due 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54963 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that Ordinance #3080, 
amending Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
the Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of 
office; and qualifications, be passed upon its second consideration. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54964 - It was moved by Hawbaker and seconded by Kruse that the following items on 
the Consent Calendar be received, filed, and approved:  

  
 Approve the following recommendation of the Mayor relative to the appointment 

of members to Boards and Commissions: 
a) Lauri Young, Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission, term ending 09/30/2028. 

 Approve the application of J & M Displays, Inc. (Holiday Hoopla) for a fireworks 
display permit for November 29, 2024. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Hampton Inn & Suites, 101 West 1st Street, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) The Ragged Edge Art Bar & Gallery, 504 Bluff Street, Class C retail alcohol & 
outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Lucky Wife Wine Slushies, 5307 Caraway Lane, Parking Lot, Special Class C 
retail alcohol & outdoor service - 5-day permit. (October 2 - 6, 2024) 

 Motion carried unanimously.  

54965 - It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Crisman that the following 
resolutions be introduced and adopted: 

 Resolution #23,769, approving electronic bidding procedures and Official 
Statement relative to the sale of $4,520,000 General Obligation Capital Loan 
Notes, Series 2024. 

 Resolution #23,770, approving a commitment of local match funds to the Cedar 
Falls Local Housing Trust Fund. 

 Resolution #23,771, approving and authorizing execution of an Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement relative to an Agreement for Private Development and 
conveyance of development property by DS Warehouse, LLC to Reel Deal 
Holdings, LLC. 

 Resolution #23,772, approving and authorizing execution of a Public Art 
Committee Agreement for a Lease Extension of Artwork with Rachel Heine 
relative to the sculpture at 311 Main Street. 

 Resolution #23,773, approving and authorizing submission of an application for 
an Iowa Tourism Grant for funding relative to promotional materials to promote 
the Gateway Water Trail. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

 Resolution #23,774, approving and authorizing submission of an application for 
an Iowa Tourism Grant for funding relative to joint promotional materials with 
Iowa Communities to promote white water and river recreation. 

 Resolution #23,775, approving and authorizing execution of an Encroachment 
and Reimbursement Agreement with the Greenhill Village Neighborhood 
Association relative to the installation of a sign within the public right-of-way in 
conjunction with the Greenhill Village Subdivision. 

 Resolution #23,776, approving a Hwy-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District 
site plan for construction of a restaurant to be located at 1150 Brandilynn 
Boulevard. 

 Resolution #23,777, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 1 to the Professional Service Agreement with Strand Associates, 
Inc. relative to development of the 2023 Stormwater Master Plan. 

 Resolution #23,778, approving and authorizing execution of two Owner Purchase 
Agreements; and approving and accepting two Temporary Construction 
Easements; two Storm Sewer and Drainage Easements, in conjunction with the 
Katoski Drive Box Culvert Replacement Project. 

 Resolution #23,779, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for administrative and design 
services relative to the Gibson Property Development Project. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,769 through #23,779 
duly passed and adopted. 

54966 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that Resolution #23,780, 
approving and adopting amendments to CFD 2257: Personnel Policy – 
Employee Wellness and CFD 2159: Personnel Policy - Severance Pay, be 
adopted.  Following questions by Councilmember Kruse, and responses by 
Human Resources Manager Schindel and City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,780 duly passed and adopted. 

54967 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Resolution #23,781, 
approving and accepting a Warranty Deed for property located at 4109 West 1st 
Street relative to safety improvements at the Highway 57 & Union Road 
intersection, be adopted. Following comments by Kim Jordan, Cedar Falls, and 
Councilmember Kruse, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call 
of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, 
Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #23,781 duly passed and adopted. 

54968 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Hawbaker that Resolution #23,782, 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of an Aerial 
Platform Apparatus for the Public Safety Department, be adopted. Following a 
question by Councilmember Schultz, and response by Operations & 
Maintenance Division Manager Heath, the Mayor put the question on the motion, 
and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: 
Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,782 duly passed and adopted. 

54969 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Resolution #23,783, 
approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement for 
Compost Facility Management Services with T & W Grinding relative to 
management of the City’s compost facility, be approved. Following questions by 
Councilmembers Schultz, Kruse, and Ganfield, and responses by Operations & 
Maintenance Division Manager Heath and Director of Public Works Schrage, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,783 duly passed and adopted. 

54970 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #3081, amending 
Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances relative to work 
performed within city right-of-way or property, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following a comment by Kim Jordan, Cedar Falls, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54971 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3082, 
repealing Section 3-46, painter’s or erector’s license, of Chapter 3, Advertising, 
and Section 7-93, Bond; guarantee of service, of Chapter 7, Buildings and 
Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54972 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Hawbaker that Ordinance #3083, 
amending Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to Insurance, and Chapter 25, Vehicles for Hire, of the Code 
of Ordinances relative to liability insurance required, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following comments and questions by Councilmembers Schultz 
and Ganfield, and responses by Mayor Laudick and City Attorney Rogers, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54973 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #3084, amending 
Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to bond and issuance, Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to unlawful dumping; filling on private land, and Chapter 13, 
Licenses and Business Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances relative to bond, 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

be passed upon its first consideration. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54974-  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hawbaker that the bills and claims of 
September 16, 2024 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City 
Treasurer be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the 
proper funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54975 -   Councilmember Kruse requested information regarding the routing of traffic at the 

intersection of 1st Street and Union Road during construction. Director of Public 
Works Schrage responded. 

 
    Councilmember Schultz commended the contractors for their work on replacing 

the concrete behind City Hall. City Administrator Gaines noted the work was 
done by Public Works staff. 

 
    Mayor Laudick read a letter from Cedar Falls Utilities General Manager Susan 

Abernathy commending the Library staff for their assistance in helping CFU 
customers with converting their email addresses to a new platform. 

 
54976 -   Following comments by Mayor Laudick and Councilmember Kruse, no referral 

was made regarding Land Use Permits and fees. City Administrator Gaines and 
Director of Community Development Sheetz commented. 

 
54977 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that the meeting be adjourned 

at 8:17 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
                                                           __________________________________ 
                                                           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

8

Item 1.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick & City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: September 30, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  2024 Bond Sales 

 
October 7th is the date set to receive bids on the 2024 General Obligation Capital Loan 
Notes.  On the council agenda is a resolution accepting those bids.  The bids are due in 
on October 7th at 10:00 am and the bids will be presented at the Council meeting by the 
City’s financial advisor, Public Financial Management (PFM) or by city staff.   Once 
those bids are received amounts in the resolution on the council agenda will be 
completed.  
 
As part of that bond sale, the City is rated by Moody’s Investors Service.  Attached is 
the news release that maintains the City’s rating to Aaa.  Staff presented several slides 
and various financial information to Moody’s about the City’s financial, economic, and 
management strengths. This information aided the City in maintaining the Aaa rating.   

 
If you have any questions regarding the bond sale, please feel free to contact me.  

9

Item 2.



U.S. Public Finance

CREDIT OPINION
27 September 2024

Contacts

Tatum Drazen +1.312.706.9986
Analyst
tatum.drazen@moodys.com

Eva Bogaty +1.415.274.1765

Associate Managing Director
eva.bogaty@moodys.com

CLIENT SERVICES

Americas 1-212-553-1653

Asia Pacific 852-3551-3077

Japan 81-3-5408-4100

EMEA 44-20-7772-5454

City of Cedar Falls, IA
Update to credit analysis

Summary
Cedar Falls, IA (Aaa) has strong reserves with ample revenue-raising flexibility. The city

routinely outperforms its budget and transfers excess reserves to other governmental funds,

which have also accumulated strong balances. The city’s economy is stable and will continue

to benefit from the presence of the University of Northern Iowa (A1 stable). Leverage is

currently moderate, but will likely grow based on future borrowing plans.

Credit strengths

» Strong financial management evidenced by a long history of strong reserves and liquidity

» Modest debt burden and low fixed costs

Credit challenges

» Resident income and full value per capita are below medians for Aaa rating category

Rating outlook
We do not assign outlooks to local governments with this amount of debt.

Factors that could lead to an upgrade

» Not applicable

Factors that could lead to a downgrade

» Significant reduction in fund balance or cash ratios to below 40%

» Further growth in long-term liabilities ratio to above 200%

10

Item 2.

http://www.surveygizmo.com/s3/1133212/Rate-this-research?pubid=PBM_1421215
https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/Cedar-Falls-City-of-IA-credit-rating-600007531/summary
https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/University-of-Northern-Iowa-IA-credit-rating-600031393/summary


Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

Key indicators

Exhibit 1

Cedar Falls (City of) IA

2020 2021 2022 2023 Aaa Medians

Economy
Resident income ratio (%) 109.4% 108.6% 107.5% N/A 170.6%
Full Value ($000) $3,493,761 $3,737,849 $3,809,182 $4,573,078 $8,680,662
Population 40,750 40,500 40,686 N/A 36,119
Full value per capita ($) $85,736 $92,293 $93,624 N/A N/A
Annual Growth in Real GDP -0.1% 6.9% -2.3% N/A 4.9%
Financial Performance
Revenue ($000) $65,015 $66,004 $69,566 $78,289 $101,733
Available fund balance ($000) $84,493 $92,055 $90,580 $91,190 $62,520
Net unrestricted cash ($000) $107,873 $119,399 $131,053 $125,618 $88,880
Available fund balance ratio (%) 130.0% 139.5% 130.2% 116.5% 61.7%
Liquidity ratio (%) 165.9% 180.9% 188.4% 160.5% 91.1%
Leverage
Debt ($000) $17,416 $19,130 $16,944 $19,026 $68,781
Adjusted net pension liabilities ($000) $80,319 $105,726 $83,518 $54,410 $105,726
Adjusted net OPEB liabilities ($000) $3,339 $3,366 $3,232 $3,256 $11,674
Other long-term liabilities ($000) $3,146 $3,046 $11,674 $11,260 $3,903
Long-term liabilities ratio (%) 160.3% 198.9% 165.8% 112.3% 258.2%
Fixed costs
Implied debt service ($000) $1,417 $1,247 $1,342 $1,183 $4,899
Pension tread water contribution ($000) $2,324 $2,681 $1,246 $1,212 $3,333
OPEB contributions ($000) $133 $218 $417 $238 $503
Implied cost of other long-term liabilities ($000) $237 $225 $214 $815 $262
Fixed-costs ratio (%) 6.3% 6.6% 4.6% 4.4% 11.2%

For definitions of the metrics in the table above please refer to the US Cities and Counties Methodology or see the Glossary in the Appendix below. Metrics represented as N/A indicate the

data were not available at the time of publication. The medians come from our most recently published US Cities and Counties Median Report.

The real GDP annual growth metric cited above is for the Waterloo-Cedar Falls, IA Metropolitan Statistical Area.
Sources: US Census Bureau, Cedar Falls (City of) IA’s financial statements and Moody’s Ratings, US Bureau of Economic Analysis

Profile
Cedar Falls is located in northeast Iowa (Aaa stable) in Black Hawk County (Aa2), about 105 miles northeast of Des Moines (Aa2

stable). The city provides public safety (police and fire), public works, recreation, economic development, general government, sewer

(collection and treatment), refuses and stormwater services to about 41,000 residents. Cedar Falls Utilities, a component unit of the

city, operates the electric (Aa2), water, gas and communications utilities to serve city residents.

Detailed credit considerations
The city's local economy will continue to benefit from the institutional presence of University of Northern Iowa and other stable

employers. The city's financial position will remain strong given its conservative management and significant financial flexibility. The

city adopted a balanced budget for fiscal 2025 (year-end June 30), which it typically outperforms. It is also budgeting for increases in

the local option sales tax, hotel/motel taxes, road use taxes and sewer and stormwater rate increases. Management estimates closing

fiscal 2024 with an operating surplus. Expenses in the governmental funds are likely to be higher in fiscal year 2024 compared to years

prior because of some large capital projects. However, the general fund and enterprise funds are likely to result in a surplus of roughly

$5 million.

The city is currently issuing $4.5 million in GO notes for various city projects. It plans to issue an additional $9 million in GO debt

through 2028, as well as roughly $100 million in revenue debt to update its wastewater facility to EPA compliance standards. While

debt will grow because of future borrowing plans, the city's long-term liabilities ratio is likely to remain moderate to slightly elevated.

The city has passed sewer and stormwater rate increases in anticipation of the large nutrient reduction improvement project at the

This publication does not announce a credit rating action. For any credit ratings referenced in this publication, please see the issuer/deal page on https://ratings.moodys.com for the

most updated credit rating action information and rating history.

2          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
11

Item 2.

http://www.moodys.com/researchdocumentcontentpage.aspx?docid=PBM_1300170
https://www.moodys.com/research/Cities-and-Counties-US-Medians-Property-values-support-revenue-and--PBM_1359690
https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/Iowa-State-of-credit-rating-600028061/summary
https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/Black-Hawk-County-of-IA-credit-rating-600024490/summary
https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/Des-Moines-City-of-IA-credit-rating-231750/summary
https://www.moodys.com/credit-ratings/Cedar-Falls-City-of-IA-Electric-Enterprise-credit-rating-820287678/summary


Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

water treatment facility, and the sewer fund has built up roughly $20 million in cash to help offset some of the future borrowing needs

for this project.

Exhibit 2

Resident Income

Median household income ($) Resident income ratio (%) Aaa median resident income ratio (%)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100

120

140

160

180

Source: Moody's Ratings

Exhibit 3

Fund Balance

General fund($000) Other governmental funds($000) Internal service funds($000)
Business-type activities($000) Available fund balance ratio (%) Aaa median available fund balance ratio (%)

2020 2021 2022 2023
$0

$100,000

$50,000

60%

80%

100%

120%

140%

Source: Moody's Ratings

3          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
12

Item 2.



Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

Exhibit 4

Cash

General fund Other governmental funds Internal service funds Business-type activities Liquidity ratio (%)
Aaa median liquidity ratio (%)

2020 2021 2022 2023
$0

$50,000

$100,000

100

150

Source: Moody's Ratings

Exhibit 5

Total Primary Government - Long Term Liabilities

Governmental Debt($000) Business-Type Activity Debt($000) Adjusted net pension liabilities($000)
Adjusted net other post-employment liabilities($000) Other long-term liabilities($000) Long-term liabilities ratio (%)
Aaa median long-term liabilities ratio (%)

2020 2021 2022 2023
$0

$50,000

$100,000

100%

150%

200%

250%

Source: Moody's Ratings

4          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
13

Item 2.



Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

ESG considerations

Cedar Falls (City of) IA's ESG credit impact score is CIS-2

Exhibit 6

ESG credit impact score

Source: Moody's Ratings

Cedar Falls ESG Credit Impact Score is neutral-to-low (CIS-2), reflecting moderately negative exposure to environmental risks, neutral-

to-low exposure to social risks, and positive consideration for governance.

Exhibit 7

ESG issuer profile scores

Source: Moody's Ratings

Environmental

The city's overall environmental issuer profile score is moderately-negative (E-3). While carbon transition, water, natural capital, and

pollution risks are low, the city has some exposure to flooding from the Cedar River. The City of Cedar Falls received a grant from the

State of Iowa’s Flood Mitigation Program to increase the levee height in 2017 after the river crested at record heights in 2008 and

again in 2016.

Social

Exposure to social risk is neutral-to-low (S-2). Overall demographics, labor trends and health and safety are in line with peers.

Educational attainment is strong, and residents have easy access to basic services.

Governance

Cedar Falls governance profile score is positive (G-1). The city has a strong institutional structure and a history of prudent budget

management with maintenance of strong reserves. Even with property tax caps on general and emergency levies, cities have strong

revenue-raising flexibility because of various additional levies, including an unlimited levy for employee benefits.

5          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
14

Item 2.



Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

Rating methodology and scorecard factors

The US Cities and Counties Methodology includes a scorecard, which summarizes the rating factors generally most important to city

and county credit profiles. Because the scorecard is a summary, and may not include every consideration in the credit analysis for a

specific issuer, a scorecard-indicated outcome may or may not map closely to the actual rating assigned.

Exhibit 8

Cedar Falls (City of) IA

Measure Weight Score

Economy
Resident income ratio 107.5% 10.0% Aa
Full value per capita 112,399 10.0% Aa
Economic growth metric -1.1% 10.0% A
Financial Performance
Available fund balance ratio 116.5% 20.0% Aaa
Liquidity ratio 160.5% 10.0% Aaa
Institutional Framework
Institutional Framework Aa 10.0% Aa
Leverage
Long-term liabilities ratio 112.3% 20.0% Aa
Fixed-costs ratio 4.4% 10.0% Aaa
Notching factors
No notchings applied
Scorecard-Indicated Outcome Aa1
Assigned Rating Aaa

The Economic Growth metric cited above compares the five-year CAGR of real GDP for Waterloo-Cedar Falls, IA Metropolitan Statistical Area to the five-year CAGR of real GDP for the US.
Sources: US Census Bureau, Cedar Falls (City of) IA’s financial statements and Moody’s Ratings

6          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
15

Item 2.



Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

Appendix

Exhibit 9

Key Indicators Glossary

Definition Typical Source*

Economy
Resident income ratio Median Household Income (MHI) for the city or county, adjusted for

Regional Price Parity (RPP), as a % of the US MHI
MHI: US Census Bureau - American
Community Survey 5-Year Estimates
RPP: US Bureau of Economic Analysis

Full value Estimated market value of taxable property in the city or county State repositories; audited financial
statements; continuing disclosures

Population Population of the city or county US Census Bureau - American Community
Survey 5-Year Estimates

Full value per capita Full value / population
Economic growth metric Five year CAGR of real GDP for Metropolitan Statistical Area or

county minus the five-year CAGR of real GDP for the US
Real GDP: US Bureau of Economic Analysis

Financial performance
Revenue Sum of revenue from total governmental funds, operating and non-

operating revenue from total business-type activities, and non-
operating revenue from internal services funds, excluding transfers
and one-time revenue, e.g., bond proceeds or capital contributions

Audited financial statements

Available fund balance Sum of all fund balances that are classified as unassigned, assigned or
committed in the total governmental funds, plus unrestricted current
assets minus current liabilities from the city's or county's business-
type activities and internal services funds

Audited financial statements

Net unrestricted cash Sum of unrestricted cash in governmental activities, business type
activities and internal services fund, net of short-term debt

Audited financial statements

Available fund balance ratio Available fund balance (including net current assets from business-
type activities and internal services funds) / Revenue

Liquidity ratio Net unrestricted cash / Revenue
Leverage
Debt Outstanding long-term bonds and all other forms of long-term debt

across the governmental and business-type activities, including debt
of another entity for which it has provided a guarantee disclosed in
its financial statements

Audited financial statements; official
statements

Adjusted net pension liabilities (ANPL) Total primary government's pension liabilities adjusted by Moody's to
standardize the discount rate used to compute the present value of
accrued benefits

Audited financial statements; Moody's
Ratings

Adjusted net OPEB liabilities (ANOL) Total primary government's net other post-employment benefit
(OPEB) liabilities adjusted by Moody's to standardize the discount
rate used to compute the present value of accrued benefits

Audited financial statements; Moody's
Ratings

Other long-term liabilities (OLTL) Miscellaneous long-term liabilities reported under the governmental
and business-type activities entries

Audited financial statements

Long-term liabilities ratio Debt + ANPL + ANOL + OLTL / Revenue
Fixed costs
Implied debt service Annual cost to amortize city or county's long-term debt over 20

years with level payments
Audited financial statements; official
statements; Moody's Ratings

Pension tread water contribution Pension contribution necessary to prevent reported unfunded
pension liabilities from growing, year over year, in nominal dollars, if
all actuarial assumptions are met

Audited financial statements; Moody's
Ratings

OPEB contribution City or county's actual contribution in a given period Audited financial statements
Implied cost of OLTL Annual cost to amortize city or county's other long-term liabilities

over 20 years with level payments
Audited financial statements; Moody's
Ratings

Fixed-costs ratio Implied debt service + Pension tread water + OPEB contributions +
Implied cost of OLTL / Revenue

*Note: If typical data source is not available then alternative sources or proxy data may be considered. For more detailed definitions of the metrics listed above please refer to the US Cities

and Counties Methodology .
Source: Moody's Ratings

7          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
16

Item 2.

http://www.moodys.com/researchdocumentcontentpage.aspx?docid=PBM_1300170
http://www.moodys.com/researchdocumentcontentpage.aspx?docid=PBM_1300170


Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

© 2024 Moody’s Corporation, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., Moody’s Analytics, Inc. and/or their licensors and affiliates (collectively, “MOODY’S”). All rights reserved.

CREDIT RATINGS ISSUED BY MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS AFFILIATES ARE THEIR CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT

COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES, AND MATERIALS, PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND INFORMATION PUBLISHED OR OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE

BY MOODY’S (COLLECTIVELY, “MATERIALS”) MAY INCLUDE SUCH CURRENT OPINIONS. MOODY’S DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS THE RISK THAT AN ENTITY MAY NOT

MEET ITS CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE AND ANY ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT OR IMPAIRMENT.

SEE APPLICABLE MOODY’S RATING SYMBOLS AND DEFINITIONS PUBLICATION FOR INFORMATION ON THE TYPES OF CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

ADDRESSED BY MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER RISK, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK, MARKET

VALUE RISK, OR PRICE VOLATILITY. CREDIT RATINGS, NON-CREDIT ASSESSMENTS (“ASSESSMENTS”), AND OTHER OPINIONS INCLUDED IN MOODY’S MATERIALS

ARE NOT STATEMENTS OF CURRENT OR HISTORICAL FACT. MOODY’S MATERIALS MAY ALSO INCLUDE QUANTITATIVE MODEL-BASED ESTIMATES OF CREDIT RISK

AND RELATED OPINIONS OR COMMENTARY PUBLISHED BY MOODY’S ANALYTICS, INC. AND/OR ITS AFFILIATES. MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER

OPINIONS AND MATERIALS DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR PROVIDE INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER

OPINIONS AND MATERIALS ARE NOT AND DO NOT PROVIDE RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. MOODY’S CREDIT

RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS DO NOT COMMENT ON THE SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR.

MOODY’S ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS AND OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLISHES OR OTHERWISE MAKES AVAILABLE ITS MATERIALS WITH THE

EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL, WITH DUE CARE, MAKE ITS OWN STUDY AND EVALUATION OF EACH SECURITY THAT IS UNDER

CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, OR SALE.

MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS, AND MATERIALS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY RETAIL INVESTORS AND IT WOULD BE RECKLESS AND

INAPPROPRIATE FOR RETAIL INVESTORS TO USE MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS OR MATERIALS WHEN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION. IF

IN DOUBT YOU SHOULD CONTACT YOUR FINANCIAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER.

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS PROTECTED BY LAW, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, COPYRIGHT LAW, AND NONE OF SUCH INFORMATION MAY BE COPIED

OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED, FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED, REDISTRIBUTED OR RESOLD, OR STORED FOR SUBSEQUENT

USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY PERSON WITHOUT MOODY’S PRIOR

WRITTEN CONSENT. FOR CLARITY, NO INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN MAY BE USED TO DEVELOP, IMPROVE, TRAIN OR RETRAIN ANY SOFTWARE PROGRAM OR

DATABASE, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, FOR ANY ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE, MACHINE LEARNING OR NATURAL LANGUAGE PROCESSING SOFTWARE, ALGORITHM,

METHODOLOGY AND/OR MODEL.

MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY ANY PERSON AS A BENCHMARK AS THAT TERM IS DEFINED

FOR REGULATORY PURPOSES AND MUST NOT BE USED IN ANY WAY THAT COULD RESULT IN THEM BEING CONSIDERED A BENCHMARK.

All information contained herein is obtained by MOODY’S from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error as well

as other factors, however, all information contained herein is provided “AS IS” without warranty of any kind. MOODY'S adopts all necessary measures so that the information it

uses in assigning a credit rating is of sufficient quality and from sources MOODY'S considers to be reliable including, when appropriate, independent third-party sources. However,

MOODY’S is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently verify or validate information received in the credit rating process or in preparing its Materials.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY’S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability to any person or entity for any

indirect, special, consequential, or incidental losses or damages whatsoever arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any

such information, even if MOODY’S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors or suppliers is advised in advance of the possibility of such losses or

damages, including but not limited to: (a) any loss of present or prospective profits or (b) any loss or damage arising where the relevant financial instrument is not the subject of a

particular credit rating assigned by MOODY’S.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY’S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability for any direct or compensatory

losses or damages caused to any person or entity, including but not limited to by any negligence (but excluding fraud, willful misconduct or any other type of liability that, for the

avoidance of doubt, by law cannot be excluded) on the part of, or any contingency within or beyond the control of, MOODY’S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents,

representatives, licensors or suppliers, arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any such information.

NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY CREDIT

RATING, ASSESSMENT, OTHER OPINION OR INFORMATION IS GIVEN OR MADE BY MOODY’S IN ANY FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER.

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of Moody’s Corporation (“MCO”), hereby discloses that most issuers of debt securities (including

corporate and municipal bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper) and preferred stock rated by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. have, prior to assignment of any credit rating,

agreed to pay to Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. for credit ratings opinions and services rendered by it. MCO and Moody’s Investors Service also maintain policies and procedures to

address the independence of Moody’s Investors Service credit ratings and credit rating processes. Information regarding certain affiliations that may exist between directors of MCO

and rated entities, and between entities who hold credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and have also publicly reported to the SEC an ownership interest in MCO of

more than 5%, is posted annually at www.moodys.com under the heading “Investor Relations — Corporate Governance — Charter Documents - Director and Shareholder Affiliation

Policy.”

Moody's SF Japan K.K., Moody's Local AR Agente de Calificación de Riesgo S.A., Moody’s Local BR Agência de Classificação de Risco LTDA, Moody’s Local MX S.A. de C.V, I.C.V.,

Moody's Local PE Clasificadora de Riesgo S.A., and Moody's Local PA Calificadora de Riesgo S.A. (collectively, the “Moody’s Non-NRSRO CRAs”) are all indirectly wholly-owned credit

rating agency subsidiaries of MCO. None of the Moody’s Non-NRSRO CRAs is a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization.

Additional terms for Australia only: Any publication into Australia of this document is pursuant to the Australian Financial Services License of MOODY’S affiliate, Moody’s Investors

Service Pty Limited ABN 61 003 399 657AFSL 336969 and/or Moody’s Analytics Australia Pty Ltd ABN 94 105 136 972 AFSL 383569 (as applicable). This document is intended

to be provided only to “wholesale clients” within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. By continuing to access this document from within Australia, you

represent to MOODY’S that you are, or are accessing the document as a representative of, a “wholesale client” and that neither you nor the entity you represent will directly or

indirectly disseminate this document or its contents to “retail clients” within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. MOODY’S credit rating is an opinion as to

the creditworthiness of a debt obligation of the issuer, not on the equity securities of the issuer or any form of security that is available to retail investors.

Additional terms for India only: Moody’s credit ratings, Assessments, other opinions and Materials are not intended to be and shall not be relied upon or used by any users located in

India in relation to securities listed or proposed to be listed on Indian stock exchanges.

Additional terms with respect to Second Party Opinions (as defined in Moody’s Investors Service Rating Symbols and Definitions): Please note that a Second Party Opinion (“SPO”)

is not a “credit rating”. The issuance of SPOs is not a regulated activity in many jurisdictions, including Singapore. JAPAN: In Japan, development and provision of SPOs fall under the

category of “Ancillary Businesses”, not “Credit Rating Business”, and are not subject to the regulations applicable to “Credit Rating Business” under the Financial Instruments and

Exchange Act of Japan and its relevant regulation. PRC: Any SPO: (1) does not constitute a PRC Green Bond Assessment as defined under any relevant PRC laws or regulations; (2)

cannot be included in any registration statement, offering circular, prospectus or any other documents submitted to the PRC regulatory authorities or otherwise used to satisfy any

PRC regulatory disclosure requirement; and (3) cannot be used within the PRC for any regulatory purpose or for any other purpose which is not permitted under relevant PRC laws or

regulations. For the purposes of this disclaimer, “PRC” refers to the mainland of the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

REPORT NUMBER 1421215

8          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
17

Item 2.

http://www.moodys.com/


Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

CLIENT SERVICES

Americas 1-212-553-1653

Asia Pacific 852-3551-3077

Japan 81-3-5408-4100

EMEA 44-20-7772-5454

9          27 September 2024 City of Cedar Falls, IA: Update to credit analysis
18

Item 2.



ITEMS TO INCLUDE ON AGENDA 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

$4,520,000 (Subject to Adjustment per Terms of Offering) General Obligation Capital Loan 

Notes, Series 2024 

 

  Receipt of bids. 

 ∙ Resolu Resolution directing sale. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE MUST BE GIVEN PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE 

CHAPTER 21 AND THE LOCAL RULES OF THE CITY. 

 

 

 

 

19

Item 2.



 

- 1 - 

October 7, 2024 

 

The Director of Finance and Business Operations of the City of Cedar Falls, State of 

Iowa, met at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 10:00 A.M., on the above date, to 

open sealed bids received, access electronic bids and to refer the sale of the Notes to the best and 

most favorable bidder for cash, subject to approval by the City Council at 7:00 P.M. on the above 

date. 

The following persons were present: 

 

________________________________________________ 

 

 

________________________________________________ 

 

 

________________________________________________ 

 

* * * * * * * * 

20

Item 2.



 

- 2 - 

This being the time and place for the opening of bids for the sale of $4,520,000 (Subject 

to Adjustment per Terms of Offering) General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024, the 

meeting was opened for the receipt of bids for the Notes.  The following actions were taken: 

1. Sealed bids were filed and listed in the minutes while unopened, as follows: 

Name & Address of Bidders: 

 

(Attach List of Bidders) 

 

2. The Director of Finance and Business Operations then declared the time for filing of 

sealed bids to be closed and that the sealed bids be opened.  The sealed bids were opened 

and announced. 

3. Electronic bids received were accessed and announced as follows: 

Name & Address of Bidders: 

 

(Attach List of Bidders) 

 

4. The best bid was determined to be as follows: 

Name & Address of Bidder: _____________________________________________ 

True Interest Rate (as-bid): ____________________% 

Net Interest Cost (as-bid): $____________________ 

In consultation with PFM Financial Advisors LLC, the City considered the adjustment of 

the aggregate principal amount of the Notes and each scheduled maturity thereof in accordance 

with the Terms of Offering and the following actions were taken: 

Final Par Amount as adjusted: $________________ 

Purchase Price as adjusted: $_______________ 

All bids were then referred to the Council for action. 

21

Item 2.



 

- 3 - 

October 7, 2024 

 

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, met in Regular session, in the 

Council Chambers, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M., on the above 

date.  There were present Mayor Daniel Laudick, in the chair, and the following named Council 

Members: 

 

__________________________________________________ 

 

 

Absent: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Vacant: ___________________________________________ 

 

* * * * * * *  

22

Item 2.



 

- 4 - 

Council Member ____________________ introduced the following Resolution entitled 

"RESOLUTION DIRECTING SALE OF $4,520,000 (SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT PER 

TERMS OF OFFERING) GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES, SERIES 

2024," and moved its adoption.  Council Member ____________________ seconded the motion 

to adopt.  The roll was called and the vote was, 

 

AYES: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________________ 

 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the following Resolution duly adopted: 

RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING SALE OF $4,520,000 (SUBJECT 

TO ADJUSTMENT PER TERMS OF OFFERING) GENERAL 

OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES, SERIES 2024 

WHEREAS, bids have been received for the Notes described as follows and the best bid 

received (with permitted adjustments, if any) is determined to be the following: 

$4,520,000 (SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT PER TERMS OF 

OFFERING) GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN 

NOTES, SERIES 2024 

Bidder: _________________________ of _________________________ 

The terms of award: 

Final Par Amount as adjusted: $____________________ 

Purchase Price as adjusted: $ ____________________ 

True Interest Rate: ____________________% 

Net Interest Cost: $____________________ 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, STATE OF IOWA: 

Section 1. That the bid for the Notes as above set out is hereby determined to be the best 

and most favorable bid received and, the Notes are hereby awarded as described above. 

23

Item 2.



 

- 5 - 

Section 2. That the statement of information for Note bidders and the form of contract for 

the sale of the Notes are hereby approved and the Mayor and Clerk are authorized to execute the 

same on behalf of the City. 

Section 3. That all acts of the Clerk done in furtherance of the sale of the Notes are 

hereby ratified and approved. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 7th day of October, 2024. 

  

 

 

  

Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

  

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

 

 

 

24

Item 2.



 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 

I, the undersigned City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, do hereby certify 

that attached is a true and complete copy of the portion of the records of the City showing 

proceedings of the Council, and the same is a true and complete copy of the action taken by the 

Council with respect to the matter at the meeting held on the date indicated in the attachment, 

which proceedings remain in full force and effect, and have not been amended or rescinded in 

any way; that meeting and all action thereat was duly and publicly held in accordance with a 

notice of meeting and tentative agenda, a copy of which was timely served on each member of 

the Council and posted on a bulletin board or other prominent place easily accessible to the 

public and clearly designated for that purpose at the principal office of the Council pursuant to 

the local rules of the Council and the provisions of Chapter 21, Code of Iowa, upon reasonable 

advance notice to the public and media at least twenty-four hours prior to the commencement of 

the meeting as required by law and with members of the public present in attendance; I further 

certify that the individuals named therein were on the date thereof duly and lawfully possessed of 

their respective City offices as indicated therein, that no Council vacancy existed except as may 

be stated in the proceedings, and that no controversy or litigation is pending, prayed or 

threatened involving the incorporation, organization, existence or boundaries of the City or the 

right of the individuals named therein as officers to their respective positions. 

 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the Council hereto affixed this __________ day of 

_______________, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

City Clerk, City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

 

 
02408931\10283-193 

25

Item 2.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: September 3, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Amendments to Chapter 5 – Alcoholic and Malt Beverages 
 

 
Introduction 
 
Planning and FBO staff worked with the City Attorney to prepare updates to City Code Chapter 
5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, to bring the ordinance into compliance with Iowa Code 
changes in terminology.  Iowa Code no longer identifies separate permits for wine, beer, and 
liquor for on-site consumption. They are now all considered “retail alcohol licenses.”   
 
In reviewing this Chapter, staff recommends several additional changes related to where 
licensed establishments are allowed and to the spacing requirements from residential zones.   
 
Issues and Solutions 
 
The current ordinance requires establishments that sell alcohol for on-site consumption to be 
located at least 150 feet from the boundary of any zoning district that is “more restrictive” than 
the zone in which the establishment is located, unless the establishment meets the definition of 
a “restaurant.” To qualify as a restaurant, the owner is required to submit to the City Clerk 
verified sales statements of the total dollar volume of food sales and total dollar volume of 
alcoholic beverages sales every six months to verify that at least 66.66 percent of sales are 
from food. This has proved to be a very cumbersome process for both the owner and for city 
staff and consequently compliance with this requirement has been inconsistent. In addition, it 
is not always easy to determine which zones are “more restrictive” than others, so this has 
largely been interpreted as 150-foot spacing from a residential zoning district.  
 
To simplify this process, staff recommends eliminating the 150-foot spacing requirement for 
the licensed establishment, but maintain a 150-foot spacing requirement for outdoor service 
areas from residential areas, where the potential nuisance effects of late-night activity outdoors 
may be disturbing to residents in lower density residential neighborhoods nearby. Since there 
are restaurants that currently have outdoor service areas that may be located within 150 feet of 
a residential area, staff recommends including an exemption from the spacing requirement if 
the outdoor service area will be closed by 10:00 PM.  Since most restaurants are not open 
beyond 10:00 PM, this will be easier for establishments to comply and for the City to enforce.  
 

26

Item 4.



 
 

Staff also recommends simplifying the location standards by eliminating the long list of zoning 
districts where establishments are allowed and simply stating that a retail alcohol license is 
allowed if the use is allowed according to the zoning. For example, the restaurant that is 
located in Western Homes Communities is allowed according to the MU District Master Plan 
approved with the development, so a retail alcohol license would be allowed for this restaurant. 
This will eliminate the need for the special provision allowing an alcohol license for a retirement 
community. It will also eliminate the need for updating the ordinance every time a new zoning 
district is added or eliminated from the ordinance over time.   
 
Another change proposed is to eliminate a potential conflict between fencing standards in this 
ordinance (required 5 to 8-foot solid fence around the outdoor service area) and fencing 
standards in the zoning ordinance, which allows front yard fences no taller than 4 feet in most 
cases. According to the ordinance, outdoor service areas are not allowed in the front yard 
(between the building and the public street).  However, licensed establishments may request 
an exemption from this front yard prohibition. Staff recommends that when an exemption is 
granted to allow an outdoor service area in the front yard, that the fencing requirement also be 
adjusted to comply with the standards in the zoning code. For example, the outdoor service 
area at George’s Restaurant downtown would not be as welcoming or attractive if it was 
surrounded by a 5 to 8-foot solid fence and such a fence would not comply with zoning 
standards. At the time the exemption was granted for George’s, staff worked with the owner on 
fencing that would be more appropriate for an outdoor service area along Main Street. Making 
the suggested change to the ordinance will make it clear what is expected for outdoor service 
areas located along street frontages, which should be similar in character to sidewalk cafes.  
 
Other changes to the ordinance are to bring terminology up to date and other minor corrections 
to the language.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommend approval of the proposed changes to Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt 
Beverages, as indicated in the attached, red-lined draft.  

27

Item 4.



- CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 5 - ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 
 

 

 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 1 of 5 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 

Sec. 5-1. Purpose. 

Regulations for the sale of alcoholic beverages are preempted to the state by the Iowa Alcoholic Beverage 
Control Act (Iowa Code ch. 123). The purpose of this chapter is to provide for local regulations for the location of 
the premises of retail alcohol wine or beer and liquor control licensed establishments and governing activities or 
such matters which that may affect the health, welfare and morals of the community relating to the establishment 
of certain retail alcohol licenses. and permits 

(Code 2017, § 5-1) 

Sec. 5-2. Penalty for violation of chapter. 

Unless a specific penalty is provided for in this chapter, any person who violates any of the provisions of this 
chapter shall be subject to punishment as provided in section 1-8.  

(Code 2017, § 5-3; Ord. No. 2362, § 3, 12-10-2001) 

Sec. 5-3. Compliance with state law. 

It shall be unlawful to sell, offer or keep for sale or possess alcoholic liquor, wine or beer except upon the 
terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions enumerated in the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, Iowa Code ch. 
123.  

(Code 2017, § 5-4) 

Sec. 5-4. Eligibility for license or permit. 

Upon meeting the requirements imposed by state law and the ordinances of the city, a person may apply for 
a retail alcohol licenseliquor control license or a wine or beer permit.  

(Code 2017, § 5-5) 

Sec. 5-5. Conditions for issuance of license or permit. 

(a) As a condition for issuance of a retail alcoholliquor control license or wine or beer permit, the applicant must 
give consent to members of the fire operations division, police operations division, health department, 
building inspector, county sheriff, deputy sheriff, members of the department of public safety, 
representatives of the department of inspections and appeals, certified police officers and any official county 
health officer to enter upon areas of the premises where alcoholic beverages are stored, served or sold, 
without a warrant, during business hours of the licensee or permittee, to inspect for violations of the 
Alcoholic Beverage Control Act (Iowa Code ch. 123) or of this chapter.  

(b) No retail alcoholliquor control license shall be issued for premises which do not conform to all applicable 
laws, regulations, ordinances, resolutions and health and fire regulations. No licensee shall have or maintain 

28

Item 4.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:11 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 2 of 5 

any interior access to residential or sleeping quarters unless permission is granted by the administrator of 
the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, the permission to be in the form of a living quarters permit.  

(c) In addition to the statutory requirements for a retail alcoholliquor control license or wine or beer permit, the 
following requirements must also be met for the issuance of such licensea liquor control license or wine or 
beer permit that would allow consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises:  

(1) The premisesplace of business for which such retail alcohol licenseliquor control license or wine or beer 
permit is sought must be in a zoning district in which the use is allowed, or is an allowed conditional 
use as approved by the Board of Adjustment.  In the MU and RP districts, the premises for which such 
license is sought must be in a location where the land use is allowed according to the approved master 
plan.  In a Character District, the premises for which such license is sought must be in a location where 
the land use is allowed according to the adopted regulating plan.located within a commercial district 
(C-1, C-2, C-3, S-1, HWY-1, PC-2, PO-1, MPC, BR), industrial district (M-1, M-2, M-P), MU Mixed Use 
Residential District, or CD-DT Downtown Character District.  

a. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply to any public 
agency.  

b. The zoning district requirement of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply to a liquor 
control license or wine or beer permit issued to a private club as defined in Iowa Code § 
123.3(11), provided that such club is owned by, ancillary to, and located on the premises of, a 
retirement community or retirement village.  

bc. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply to a retail 
alcohol licenseany liquor control license or wine or beer permit which  that is issued for any 
establishment located on city-owned property;, provided, however, that the city, as owner of the 
property, shall have consented to the granting of such license or permit.  

(2) Additional requirements related to the location and operation of sidewalk cafes and outdoor service 
areas where alcoholic beverages are served and consumed are stated in section 19-94 and section 5-
67, respectively The liquor control license or wine or beer permit must apply only to building areas, 
with the exception of country clubs or similar type operations.  

(3) Except for a restaurant, which is defined as any retail establishment where the principal business of 
which consists of the sale of food products for consumption on the premises, and where the volume of 
all food sales shall not be less than 66⅔ percent of the dollar volume of sales made by the 
establishment, the licensed building is to be no closer, at the closest point, than 150 feet to the border 
of the zoning district adjacent to the district in which the licensed building is located, if the adjacent 
zoning district is more restrictive than those zoning districts set forth in subsection (c)(1) of this section.  

(4) For establishments that qualify as a restaurant as defined in subsection (c)(3) of this section, the liquor 
control licensee or wine or beer permittee shall furnish to the city clerk verified monthly statements of 
total dollar volume of food sales and total dollar volume of alcoholic beverage sales for six consecutive 
months. Thereafter, sales statements, as provided for in this section, shall be submitted for each 
consecutive six-month period until the liquor control license or wine or beer permit expires or has been 
revoked.  

(Code 2017, § 5-6; Ord. No. 2256, § 1, 2-22-1999; Ord. No. 2397, § 1, 9-23-2002; Ord. No. 2749, § 1, 6-13-2011; 
Ord. No. 2830, § 1, 10-20-2014; Ord. No. 2994, § 10, 11-1-2021) 

 
 

29

Item 4.



- CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 5 - ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES 

ARTICLE III. OUTDOOR SERVICE AREAS 
 

 

 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 3 of 5 

ARTICLE III. OUTDOOR SERVICE AREAS 

Sec. 5-63. Approval required. 

Any permittee or licensee under article I of this chapter, or any applicant for a license or permit under article 
I of this chapter, desiring to operate an outdoor service area adjacent to and in conjunction with the licensed 
premises must obtain the approval of the city council and of the state alcoholic beverages division before 
commencing operation of such outdoor service area.  An approved outdoor service area shall be considered part of 
the licensed premises that it adjoins.  

(Code 2017, § 5-76) 

Sec. 5-64. Application for approval; granting of approval. 

(a) An application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be made to the state alcoholic beverages 
division. Such application may accompany the initial application or any renewal application for a license or 
permit under article I of this chapter or may be submitted at any time in conjunction with an amended 
application for a license or permit. An application for the approval of an outdoor service area shall include all 
information required to be submitted with applications for retail alcoholbeer permits and liquor licenses. The 
accompanying application materials shall be submitted to the city clerk at least 15 days prior to the date it is 
to be considered by the city council. An outdoor service area shall be subject to the same annual renewal 
requirements as are all retail alcoholbeer permits and liquor licenses. Approval by the city council of an 
outdoor service area shall be to the state alcoholic beverages division with regard to the diagram, dram shop 
insurance coverage and all other state and local requirements.  

(b) Upon submitting an application for approval of an outdoor service area, the applicant shall provide the name 
and address of the owner of each abutting property as well as every other property which is within 150 feet 
of the applicant's premises. The city will then notify these property owners by letter of the nature of the 
application and the date and time when it will appear on the agenda for approval by the city council, so that 
these property owners will have an opportunity to comment on the application if they wish.  

(c) Approval or disapproval of an application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be at the discretion of 
the city council. Such discretion shall be exercised with due regard to public health, safety and welfare 
considerations. If there is a change of ownership, the outdoor service area use shall be permitted to 
continue, provided that the usage is continuous and the area has not been altered.  

(Code 2017, § 5-77) 

Sec. 5-65. Suspension or revocation of approval. 

(a) The city may, after notice to the licensee or permittee and after a reasonable opportunity for hearing, 
suspend or revoke authorization for the operation of an outdoor service area for any establishment when 
the licensee or permittee has violated or has permitted or allowed the violation of any provision of the Iowa 
Code or this Code pertaining to the operation of an outdoor service area that constitutes a threat to public 
health, welfare or safety, or constitutes a nuisance.  

30

Item 4.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 4 of 5 

(b) The suspension or revocation procedure shall be initiated by the police chief by the filing of a complaint with 
the city council or state alcoholic beverages division. Written notice of the hearing, as well as a copy of the 
complaint, shall be served upon the licensee or permittee at least ten days prior to the date set for hearing. 
In the event of suspension or revocation, the city shall notify the state alcoholic beverages division pursuant 
to Iowa Code § 123.32.  

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, the city council may order the 
immediate closure of an outdoor service area if it is determined that its continued operation presents a clear 
and imminent threat to public health, safety and welfare.  

(d) Suspension or revocation of authorization by the city for the operation of an outdoor service area shall not 
affect the licensing of the principal establishment, unless separate action to suspend or revoke that license 
or permit is also initiated.  

(Code 2017, § 5-78) 

Sec. 5-66. Inspection. 

Outdoor service areas shall be subject to inspection at least annually at the same time inspection of the 
adjacent licensed establishment occurs. The city may, in its discretion, inspect an outdoor service area at any other 
time.  

(Code 2017, § 5-79) 

Sec. 5-67. Location and operation—Generally. 

The operation of an outdoor service area shall be subject to the following terms, conditions and regulations:  

(1) Outdoor service areas must be located on private property and may not encroach on any public right-
of-way, except as provided for in section 19-9416-132 for use of public sidewalks for sidewalk cafes.  

(2) Outdoor service areas shall not be located in the front yard of any licensed premises. If an exemption is 
granted under section 5-68 allowing an outdoor service area in the front yard, fencing and screening 
may not exceed 4 feet in height, be no more than 50% solid, and meet any other requirements for 
fencing within the zoning district where the premises are located.   

(3) Outdoor service areas shall be screened on all sides from public view. Screening shall consist of a fence 
or other suitable barrier not less than five feet in height and not more than eight feet in height. It shall 
be of solid construction which will effectively prevent ingress or egress from the premises except by 
way of an emergency fire exit. Such fire exit shall be required of all outdoor service areas.  

(4) An outdoor service area shall not be accessible except from the licensed premises which it adjoins. The 
required fire exit shall be an emergency exit only.  

(5) An outdoor service area must be immediately adjacent to the licensed establishment of which it is a 
part.  

(6) Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only where the adjacent licensed premises is allowed as 
providedin those zones listed in section 5-56(c)(1)., and shall be permitted only if the service area . The 
premises may request an exemption from this spacing requirement if the outdoor service area will not 
be open after 10:00 PM. meets or exceeds the requirements of section 5-6(c)(3).  

(7)     Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only if the outdoor service area is located at least 150 feet 
from the nearest point of an R-1, R-2, or R-3 zoning district, designated residential area within an RP or 
MU district master plan, or neighborhood frontage area within a Character District.  The licensee may 

31

Item 4.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 5 of 5 

request an exemption under section 5-68 from this spacing requirement if the outdoor service area will 
not be open after 10:00 p.m.   

(87) Outdoor service areas shall comply with appropriate building, housing and fire codes and with all other 
applicable state and city laws.  

(98) Seating or other accommodations in an outdoor service area shall not exceed one person per 15 
square feet of floor area accessible to the public.  

(109) Amplified sound equipment shall be prohibited in outdoor service areas. Compliance with the city 
noise ordinance shall be required.  

(11)   Additional advertising or identification signage beyond that permitted for the main licensed 
establishment shall not be permitted.  

(12) The owner or operator of an outdoor service area shall be required to observe the same per square 
foot occupancy limits that apply to the building to which it abuts adjoins. The occupancy limit for each 
outdoor service area shall be determined by the city building official. If inclement weather requires 
early closing of the outdoor service area, the licensee or permittee shall not allow patrons of the 
outdoor service area to enter that portion of the licensed premises housed in the adjacent building if to 
do so would result in exceeding the occupancy limits therefor as determined by the city building 
official.  

(Code 2017, § 5-80) 

Sec. 5-68. Location and operation—Exemptions. 

(a) An applicant may, as a part of the application for an outdoor service area, request exemption from the 
requirements of section 5-67(2), (3), (4), (7) and (109). After review and comment by appropriate city staff, 
the city council may approve such exemptions if it determines that to do so would not jeopardize the health, 
welfare or safety of the users of the outdoor service area or the owners or users of abutting property. The 
burden of establishing entitlement to such exemption shall be upon the applicant, and cost of compliance 
alone shall not be sufficient grounds to justify exemption. Outdoor service areas in existence on the date of 
passage of the ordinance from which this article is derived are required to comply with all requirements for 
outdoor service areas stated in this articlesubsection (a) of this section, or to obtain exemption therefrom as 
provided in this section.  

(b) For the purpose of this article, an outdoor service area shall be considered a building area as provided for in 
section 5-6(c)(2).  

(Code 2017, § 5-81) 

 

32

Item 4.



 
 

 
 

Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner II, City of Cedar Falls. 220 Clay Street,  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 268-5184 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3079 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, AND 

ARTICLE III, OUTDOOR SERVICE AREAS, WITHIN CHAPTER 5, 

ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 
WHEREAS, amendments to Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages are necessary to 

update terms to be consistent with Iowa Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, amendments will address administrative challenges that have been 

identified in the evaluation of requests for retail alcohol licenses and associated outdoor 
services areas related to the location of the premises and proximity to certain residential zones; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls City Council has determined that said amendments to 

Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, are in the best interests of the community. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 

 
Section 1: Sec. 5-1, Purpose, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following Section 5-1, is 
enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-1. Purpose. 

Regulations for the sale of alcoholic beverages are preempted to the state by the Iowa Alcoholic 
Beverage Control Act (Iowa Code ch. 123). The purpose of this chapter is to provide for local 
regulations for the location of the premises of retail alcohol licensed establishments and 
governing activities or such matters that may affect the health, welfare and morals of the 
community relating to the establishment of certain retail alcohol licenses. 

 

Section 2:  Sec. 5-4, Eligibility for license or permit, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the 
following Sec. 5-4, is enacted in lieu thereof:  

Sec. 5-4. Eligibility for license. 

Upon meeting the requirements imposed by state law and the ordinances of the city, a person 
may apply for a retail alcohol license. 

 

Section 3:  Sec. 5-5, Conditions for issuance of license or permit, is hereby repealed in its 
entirety and the following Sec. 5-5 is enacted in lieu thereof: 

33

Item 4.



 
 

Sec. 5-5. Conditions for issuance of license. 

(a) As a condition for issuance of a retail alcohol license, the applicant must give consent to 
members of the fire operations division, police operations division, health department, 
building inspector, county sheriff, deputy sheriff, members of the department of public 
safety, representatives of the department of inspections and appeals, certified police 
officers and any official county health officer to enter upon areas of the premises where 
alcoholic beverages are stored, served or sold, without a warrant, during business hours of 
the licensee or permittee, to inspect for violations of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act 
(Iowa Code ch. 123) or of this chapter.  

(b) No retail alcohol license shall be issued for premises which do not conform to all applicable 
laws, regulations, ordinances, resolutions and health and fire regulations. No licensee shall 
have or maintain any interior access to residential or sleeping quarters unless permission is 
granted by the administrator of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, the permission to be in 
the form of a living quarters permit.  

(c) In addition to the statutory requirements for a retail alcohol license, the following 
requirements must also be met for the issuance of such license that would allow 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises:  

(1) The premises for which such retail alcohol license is sought must be in a zoning 
district in which the use is allowed, or is an allowed conditional use as approved by 
the Board of Adjustment.  In the MU and RP districts, the premises for which such 
license is sought must be in a location where the land use is allowed according to the 
approved master plan.  In a Character District, the premises for which such license is 
sought must be in a location where the land use is allowed according to the adopted 
regulating plan.  

a. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply 
to any public agency.  

b. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply 
to a retail alcohol license that is issued for any establishment located on city-
owned property; provided, however, that the city, as owner of the property, shall 
have consented to the granting of such license.  

(2) Additional requirements related to the location and operation of sidewalk cafes and 
outdoor service areas where alcoholic beverages are served and consumed are 
stated in section 19-94 and section 5-67, respectively   

 
Section 4:  Sec. 5-63, Approval required, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following Sec. 
5-63, is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-63. Approval required. 

Any licensee under article I of this chapter, or any applicant for a license under article I of this 
chapter, desiring to operate an outdoor service area adjacent to and in conjunction with the 
licensed premises must obtain the approval of the city council and of the state alcoholic 
beverages division before commencing operation of such outdoor service area.  An approved 
outdoor service area shall be considered part of the licensed premises that it adjoins. 
 

 

 

34

Item 4.



 
 

Section 5:  Sec. 5-64, Application for approval; granting of approval, repealed in its entirety and 
the following Sec. 5-64, is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-64. Application for approval; granting of approval 

(a) An application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be made to the state alcoholic 
beverages division. Such application may accompany the initial application or any renewal 
application for a license under article I of this chapter or may be submitted at any time in 
conjunction with an amended application for a license. An application for the approval of an 
outdoor service area shall include all information required to be submitted with applications 
for retail alcohol licenses. The accompanying application materials shall be submitted to the 
city clerk at least 15 days prior to the date it is to be considered by the city council. An 
outdoor service area shall be subject to the same annual renewal requirements as are all 
retail alcohol licenses. Approval by the city council of an outdoor service area shall be to 
the state alcoholic beverages division with regard to the diagram, dram shop insurance 
coverage and all other state and local requirements.  

(b) Upon submitting an application for approval of an outdoor service area, the applicant shall 
provide the name and address of the owner of each abutting property as well as every 
other property which is within 150 feet of the applicant's premises. The city will then notify 
these property owners by letter of the nature of the application and the date and time when 
it will appear on the agenda for approval by the city council, so that these property owners 
will have an opportunity to comment on the application if they wish.  

(c) Approval or disapproval of an application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be at 
the discretion of the city council. Such discretion shall be exercised with due regard to 
public health, safety and welfare considerations. If there is a change of ownership, the 
outdoor service area use shall be permitted to continue, provided that the usage is 
continuous and the area has not been altered. 

 

Section 6:  Sec. 5-65, Suspension or revocation of approval, is hereby repealed in its entirety 
and the following Sec. 5-65, is enacted in lieu thereof:  

Sec. 5-65. Suspension or revocation of approval 

(a) The city may, after notice to the licensee and after a reasonable opportunity for hearing, 
suspend or revoke authorization for the operation of an outdoor service area for any 
establishment when the licensee has violated or has permitted or allowed the violation of 
any provision of the Iowa Code or this Code pertaining to the operation of an outdoor 
service area that constitutes a threat to public health, welfare or safety, or constitutes a 
nuisance.  

(b) The suspension or revocation procedure shall be initiated by the police chief by the filing of 
a complaint with the city council or state alcoholic beverages division. Written notice of the 
hearing, as well as a copy of the complaint, shall be served upon the licensee at least ten 
days prior to the date set for hearing. In the event of suspension or revocation, the city 
shall notify the state alcoholic beverages division pursuant to Iowa Code § 123.32.  

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, the city council 
may order the immediate closure of an outdoor service area if it is determined that its 
continued operation presents a clear and imminent threat to public health, safety and 
welfare.  

35

Item 4.



 
 

(d) Suspension or revocation of authorization by the city for the operation of an outdoor service 
area shall not affect the licensing of the principal establishment, unless separate action to 
suspend or revoke that license is also initiated.  

 
Section 7:  Sec. 5-67, Location and operation–Generally, is hereby repealed in its entirety and 
the following Sec. 5-67, is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-67. Location and operation—Generally. 

The operation of an outdoor service area shall be subject to the following terms, conditions and 
regulations: 
  
(1) Outdoor service areas must be located on private property and may not encroach on any 

public right-of-way, except as provided for in section 19-94 for use of public sidewalks for 
sidewalk cafes.  

 
(2) Outdoor service areas shall not be located in the front yard of any licensed premises. If an 

exemption is granted under section 5-68 allowing an outdoor service area in the front yard, 
fencing and screening may not exceed 4 feet in height, be no more than 50% solid, and 
meet any other requirements for fencing within the zoning district where the premises are 
located. 

   
(3) Outdoor service areas shall be screened on all sides from public view. Screening shall 

consist of a fence or other suitable barrier not less than five feet in height and not more 
than eight feet in height. It shall be of solid construction which will effectively prevent 
ingress or egress from the premises except by way of an emergency fire exit. Such fire exit 
shall be required of all outdoor service areas.  

 
(4) An outdoor service area shall not be accessible except from the licensed premises which it 

adjoins. The required fire exit shall be an emergency exit only.  
 
(5) An outdoor service area must be immediately adjacent to the licensed establishment of 

which it is a part.  
 
(6) Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only where the adjacent licensed premises is 

allowed as provided in section 5-5(c)(1). 
 
(7)   Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only if the outdoor service area is located at least 

150 feet from the nearest point of an R-1, R-2, or R-3 zoning district, designated residential 
area within an RP or MU district master plan, or neighborhood frontage area within a 
Character District.  The licensee may request an exemption under section 5-68 from this 
spacing requirement if the outdoor service area will not be open after 10:00 p.m.  

  
(8) Outdoor service areas shall comply with appropriate building, housing and fire codes and 

with all other applicable state and city laws.  
 
(9) Seating or other accommodations in an outdoor service area shall not exceed one person 

per 15 square feet of floor area accessible to the public.  
 
(10) Amplified sound equipment shall be prohibited in outdoor service areas. Compliance with 

the city noise ordinance shall be required.  
 

36

Item 4.



 
 

(11) Additional advertising or identification signage beyond that permitted for the main licensed 
establishment shall not be permitted.  

 
(12) The owner or operator of an outdoor service area shall be required to observe the same 

per square foot occupancy limits that apply to the building to which it adjoins. The 
occupancy limit for each outdoor service area shall be determined by the city building 
official. If inclement weather requires early closing of the outdoor service area, the licensee 
or permittee shall not allow patrons of the outdoor service area to enter that portion of the 
licensed premises housed in the adjacent building if to do so would result in exceeding the 
occupancy limits therefor as determined by the city building official. 
 

Section 8:  Sec. 5-68, Location and operation–Exemptions, is hereby repealed in its entirety and 
the following Sec. 5-68 is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-68. Location and operation—Exemptions.  

An applicant may, as a part of the application for an outdoor service area, request exemption 
from the requirements of section 5-67(2), (3), (4), (7) and (10). After review and comment by 
appropriate city staff, the city council may approve such exemption if it determines that to do so 
would not jeopardize the health, welfare or safety of the users of the outdoor service area or the 
owners or users of abutting property. The burden of establishing entitlement to such exemption 
shall be upon the applicant, and cost of compliance alone shall not be sufficient grounds to 
justify exemption. Outdoor service areas in existence on the date of passage of the ordinance 
from which this article is derived are required to comply with all requirements for outdoor service 
areas stated in this article, or to obtain exemption therefrom as provided in this section.  
 

 

INTRODUCED:     September 3, 2024         

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   September 3, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   September 16, 2024    

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:             

 

 
____________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  
 

37

Item 4.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Human Resources Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Chelsie Luhring, Human Rights Commission Staff Liaison 

 DATE: August 19, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Human Rights Commission Ordinance 

 
During the August 12, 2024, regular Human Rights Commission (HRC) meeting, 
commissioners unanimously supported a proposed ordinance revision to shift from an 
11-member to a 9-member commission. The current commission is at 7 of 11 members. 
If approved, quorum would be set at 5 commissioners instead of the current 6. The 
above revision could aid in setting practicable expectations for recruitment, retention, 
and collaboration of the commission. 
 
Moving to a 9-member commission would also be more closely aligned with other major 
Iowa cities: West Des Moines (7); Des Moines (7); Cedar Rapids (9); Davenport (7); 
Ames (7); and Dubuque (9).   
 
Also included in the proposed ordinance revision is removal of the stipulation of having 
“vacancies filled within 60 days” for the remainder of an unexpired term. There is 
currently no repercussions for not filling a vacancy within that timeframe and eliminating 
this piece will allow the time necessary for the HRC to find the best qualified candidates.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. Please reach out with any questions. 
 
  

38

Item 5.



ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 12-2, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION; 

MEMBERSHIP; APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS; TERM OF OFFICE; AND 

QUALIFICATIONS, OF ARTICLE I, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION, OF CHAPTER 12, 

HUMAN RELATIONS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA, TO REDUCE THE NUMBER OF COMMISSIONERS FROM ELEVEN TO NINE. 

                  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                  Section 12-2, Human Rights Commission; Membership; Appointment of Members; Term of 

Office; and Qualifications, of Article I, Human Rights Commission, of Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 

12-2, of the same title, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 12-2. Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of office; 

and qualifications. 

(a) The city human rights commission shall consist of nine11 members, appointed by the mayor with the advice 
and consent of the city council. Appointees subsequent to the initial appointees shall serve for a term of 
three years, and thereafter until a successor has been appointed. Vacancies shall be filled within 60 days for 
the remainder of an unexpired term. Appointments shall take into consideration the various racial, religious, 
economic, cultural, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, physical disability and social groups in the 
city.  

(b) In so far as reasonably practicable, appointees for membership on the commission shall be residents of the 
city, or, if that is not reasonably practicable, shall have a place of employment in the city. Appointees who 
are neither residents of the city nor who have a place of employment in the city may be eligible for 
appointment to the commission upon a finding of the unavailability of qualified applicants, as determined by 
the mayor. Any person who is a member of the commission on the date of adoption of the ordinance from 
which this article is derived who does not meet the qualifications for membership set forth herein shall 
continue to be eligible to serve as a member of the commission until both the expiration of his current term 
and the member's non-reappointment by the mayor to an additional term.  

(Ord. No. 2977, § 1, 1-4-2021; Ord. No. 3005, § 1, 2-21-2022) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

Formatted: Top:  2"

39

Item 5.



 

_______________________                                   Attest:    _________________________ 
   Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                        Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

40

Item 5.



ORDINANCE NO. 3080 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 12-2, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION; 

MEMBERSHIP; APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS; TERM OF OFFICE; AND 

QUALIFICATIONS, OF ARTICLE I, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION, OF CHAPTER 12, 

HUMAN RELATIONS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA, TO REDUCE THE NUMBER OF COMMISSIONERS FROM ELEVEN TO NINE. 

                  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                  Section 12-2, Human Rights Commission; Membership; Appointment of Members; Term of 

Office; and Qualifications, of Article I, Human Rights Commission, of Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 

12-2, of the same title, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 12-2. Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of office; and 

qualifications. 

(a) The city human rights commission shall consist of nine members, appointed by the mayor with the 
advice and consent of the city council. Appointees subsequent to the initial appointees shall serve 
for a term of three years, and thereafter until a successor has been appointed. Vacancies shall be 
filled for the remainder of an unexpired term. Appointments shall take into consideration the various 
racial, religious, economic, cultural, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, physical disability 
and social groups in the city.  

(b) In so far as reasonably practicable, appointees for membership on the commission shall be 
residents of the city, or, if that is not reasonably practicable, shall have a place of employment in the 
city. Appointees who are neither residents of the city nor who have a place of employment in the city 
may be eligible for appointment to the commission upon a finding of the unavailability of qualified 
applicants, as determined by the mayor. Any person who is a member of the commission on the 
date of adoption of the ordinance from which this article is derived who does not meet the 
qualifications for membership set forth herein shall continue to be eligible to serve as a member of 
the commission until both the expiration of his current term and the member's non-reappointment by 
the mayor to an additional term.  

(Ord. No. 2977, § 1, 1-4-2021; Ord. No. 3005, § 1, 2-21-2022) 

 

INTRODUCED:     September 3, 2024   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   September 3, 2024   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   September 16, 2024   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

                                             
           Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
Attest: 

 

      

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

41

Item 5.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: August 29, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Latest group of Ordinance Amendments 
 
 

Please find attached the latest group of proposed changes to the Code of Ordinances.  These are the 

result of an extensive study of the City’s insurance and bonding requirements found in the Code of 

Ordinances.  Much of it is updating the requirements, simplifying them, and in some cases eliminating 

them.  There are four separate ordinances proposed in this group.  An explanation for each ordinance 

follows: 

 

First ordinance:  Sec. 19-14.  This is a new section.  The purpose of the ordinance is to establish a 

standard and other requirements for work performed in City right-of-way or on City property, and to make 

bond requirements simpler for those performing such work.  Note that this is to be distinguished from City 

contracted work, which has separate insurance and bond requirements.  This is aimed at those who are 

licensed to perform work in City rights-of-way or who have a permit to do so.  For example, those who 

perform sidewalk repairs or construct driveway approaches would be subject to this new ordinance.   

 

In upcoming ordinance changes you will see references to new Section 19-14. 

 

Second ordinance:  This ordinance is proposed to repeal Section 3-46 and Section 7-93.  Section 3-46 

relating to a painter’s or erector’s license is unnecessary because the City has not required such a license 

for many years.  It is believed that general contractors generally perform such work, and such general 

contractors are already licensed by the State of Iowa. 

 

The repeal of Section 7-93 is necessary because the State of Iowa has different bonding requirements for 

those who perform work with natural gas and this ordinance is in conflict with those State requirements. 

 

Third ordinance:  Section 7-275 and Section 25-29 are proposed to be amended in this ordinance.  

Section 7-275 is proposed to be amended to clarify and update insurance requirements for licensed 

building movers in the City.  The change to Section 25-29 accomplishes the same thing regarding 

taxicabs and limousine services. 

 

Fourth ordinance:  This proposed ordinance amends Section 7-276, Section 7-311, Section 10-73, and 

Section 13-103.  

 

Section 7-276 simplifies the bond requirement for licensed building movers. 

 

Section 7-311 eliminates the bond requirement for a building moving permit because only licensed 

building movers may take out a permit for this work and they are already required to carry a bond as a 

42

Item 6.



2 

 

condition of licensure (see Section 7-276 above). 

 

Section 10-73 eliminates the bond requirement for filling on private property.  This bond requirement in 

the amount of $200 has not been enforced for many years. 

 

Section 13-103 adds another condition to the bond requirement for those having a retail distress sale to 

pay all sums due to the City.  This is a typical bond requirement. 

 

There will be more insurance and bond ordinance changes to come in the future but those will 

accompany substantive changes to the same ordinances or those within the same Division to ensure 

continuity.  

 

I recommend approval of these ordinance changes.          

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.   

 

Thank you.  

43

Item 6.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 3081 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 19, STREETS AND 

SIDEWALKS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

BY ADDING A NEW SECTION 19-14, WORK PERFORMED WITHIN CITY RIGHT-OF-WAY 

OR PROPERTY, TO ESTABLISH STANDARDS FOR SUCH WORK. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Article I, In General, of Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by enacting a new Section 19-14, Work 

Performed Within City Right-of-Way or Property, as follows: 

Sec. 19-14.  Work performed within city right-of-way or property. 

     All work performed within city right-of-way or in or on other city property shall be done in accordance 
with all applicable city ordinances, standards, and regulations, and be done in a good and workmanlike 
manner, and all material included in such work shall be free from defect.  Further, all sums that may 
become due to the city on account of such work shall be paid by the person performing the work or on 
whose behalf the work is being performed.  Any damage to city right-of-way or other city property caused 
by or arising out of such work shall be repaired by such person.  A surety bond may be required to ensure 
compliance with this section. 
       
INTRODUCED:    September 16, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  September 16, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

                                                                                   

             

                                                                                       

                                                                                                                      Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

     
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

44

Item 6.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING ARTICLE II, SIGNS, OF CHAPTER 3, ADVERTISING, BY 

REPEALING SECTION 3-46, PAINTER’S OR ERECTOR’S LICENSE, TO CONFORM THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY PRACTICE OF NOT REQUIRING SUCH A LICENSE; 

AND 2)  AMENDING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, GAS REGULATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS, BY REPEALING SECTION 7-93, 

BOND; GUARANTEE OF SERVICE, TO CONFORM THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY 

PRACTICE AND STATE LAW, ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 3-46, Painter’s or Erector’s License, of Article II, Signs, of Chapter 3, 

Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety, as follows: 

Sec. 3-46. Painter's or erector's license. 

(a) Required; fee; renewal. 

(1) Painter's license. Any person desiring to engage in the act of drawing, painting or posting a sign 

on any existing building or billboard or signboard surface subject to the provisions of this article must first 

obtain a painter's license from the city clerk. Such license shall be limited to the drawing, painting or 

posting of signs only. The license fee shall be in the amount established annually by resolution by the city 

council, subject of the exceptions as contained in subsection (a)(2) of this section and said license fee 

shall be payable annually on January 1 of each year.  

(2) Erector's license. Any person engaging in the act of painting, erecting, maintaining, repairing, 

servicing, installing or removing signs, billboards or signboards, regardless of size or weight, must first 

apply to the city for an erector's license. The erector's license provided for in this subsection shall be in 

lieu of the painter's license contained in subsection (a)(1) of this section. The license fee for the first year 

shall be in the amount established annually by resolution by the city council. Renewals shall be made on 

or before January 1 of each year, and the cost of such renewal, shall be in the amount established 

annually by resolution by the city council.  

(b) Exemptions. No license required in subsection (a) of this section shall be required for the 

following:  

(1) A sign erected by an owner on his property which is exempt from a certificate of liability.  

(2) Signs advertising the sale, rental or lease of the premises or part of the premises on which the 

sign is displayed. One such nonilluminated sign, not to exceed six square feet in size, shall be permitted 

on each premises.  

(3) Address signs posted in conjunction with doorbells or mailboxes showing only the numerical 

address and occupants of the premises upon which the sign is situated. One such nonilluminated sign 

shall be permitted per address.  

(4) Home occupation signs.  

45

Item 7.



(5) Traffic, regulatory and other municipal signs erected upon direction of the city council.  

(c) Bond. An applicant for an erector's license, at the time of applying for such license, shall execute 

and file with his application a surety and performance bond, signed by sureties to be approved by the city 

council and in the amount established annually by resolution by the city council. The terms of such bond 

shall guarantee full compliance by the principal with all ordinances of this city regulating and licensing 

such operation and shall guarantee the payment of any fines or penalties which may be assessed to the 

extent of the face amount of the bond.  

(Code 2017, § 3-46; Ord. No. 2067, § 2, 10-10-1994) 

          Section 2.  Section 7-93, Bond; Guarantee of Service, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Gas 

Regulations, of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, as follows: 

Sec. 7-93. Bond; guarantee of service. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person, except as otherwise provided in this article, to install, alter or 

repair any gas piping, gas vent, or gas burning appliances until the person has first obtained a 

surety bond in the amount of $1,000.00, which must be approved by the inspector and held on file 

in the gas operations department at the Cedar Falls Utilities.  

(b) The bond shall be accompanied by a guarantee of future 24-hour on call service on all equipment 

to be installed. This guarantee shall be limited to a period of two years from the date of installation 

of such equipment.  

(c) It shall be the responsibility of the person to keep a current bond on file in the gas operations 

department at the Cedar Falls Utilities. If the bond expires, no further installation permits shall be 

issued to the individual or company until a valid bond is issued and filed as provided herein.  

(Code 2017, § 7-196; Ord. No. 2321, § 2, 1-8-2001) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                                                   

_______________________________                                Attest: ______________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                    Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

46

Item 7.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 3082 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING ARTICLE II, SIGNS, OF CHAPTER 3, ADVERTISING, BY 

REPEALING SECTION 3-46, PAINTER’S OR ERECTOR’S LICENSE, TO CONFORM THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY PRACTICE OF NOT REQUIRING SUCH A LICENSE; 

AND 2)  AMENDING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, GAS REGULATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS, BY REPEALING SECTION 7-93, 

BOND; GUARANTEE OF SERVICE, TO CONFORM THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY 

PRACTICE AND STATE LAW, ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 3-46, Painter’s or Erector’s License, of Article II, Signs, of Chapter 3, 

Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety, as follows: 

 

          Section 2.  Section 7-93, Bond; Guarantee of Service, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Gas 

Regulations, of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, as follows: 

 

INTRODUCED:     September 16, 2024   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   September 16, 2024   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

                                                                                   

                                    

               Daniel Laudick, Mayor            

                                                          

Attest:  

 

      

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

47

Item 7.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-275, INSURANCE, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, 

OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 25-29, LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIRED, 

OF ARTICLE II, TAXICABS AND LIMOUSINES, OF CHAPTER 25, VEHICLES FOR HIRE, 

ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO 

UPDATE INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 7-275, Insurance, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, 

of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 7-275, Insurance, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-275. Insurance. 

                  Before any license required by this division shall be issued, the applicant therefor shall first 

obtain and furnish to the city clerk satisfactory proof ofan commercial general liability insurance with limits 

of at leastpolicy for public liability and property damage in the amount of $1,000,000.00 per occurrence 

and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate, and such insurance shall be maintained during the period of the 

licenseperson injured, $300,000.00 for each accident, and $50,000.00 property damage. The insurance 

policy shall name the city and the applicant as named insured, and shall provide that the policy cannot be 

revoked, cancelled or modified in any material way until the city has been notified in writingby certified 

mail at least ten days prior to the proposed action.  

(Code 2017, § 7-448) 

 Section 2.  Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, of Article II, Taxicabs and Limousines, 

of Chapter 25, Vehicles for Hire, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 25-29. Liability insurance required. 

(a) No permit shall be issued or continued in operation unless and until the owner of the vehicle for hire 

shall have furnished to the city clerk satisfactory proofan insurance policy or certificate of 

commercial automobile insurance issued by an insurance company licensed to do business in the 

state, providing insurance coverage as follows:  

(1) For taxicabs, commercialprimary automobile insurance with combined single limitin the amount of 

at least $21,000,000.00 because of bodily injury to or death of one or more persons and injury to or 

destruction of property of others in any one accident.  

(2) For limousines, commercialprimary automobile insurance with combined single limitin the amount of 

at least $21,0500,000.00 because of bodily injury to or death of one or more persons and injury to 

or destruction of property of others in any one accident.  

48

Item 8.



(b) The insurance policy or certificate of insurance referred to in this section shall not be revoked, 

cancelled or modified in any material way until the city has been notified in writing at least ten days 

prior to the intended actionprovide that it cannot be canceled or terminated until ten days' notice of 

such cancellation or termination shall have been given by registered or certified mail to the city 

clerk. Satisfactory proofThe certificate of insurance must accompany the application required in 

section 25-25.  

(c) The cancellation or other termination of any insurance policy issued in compliance with this section 

shall automatically revoke and terminate the permit and all licenses issued for the vehicle for hire 

business and the vehicles covered by the insurance policy, unless another policy, complying with 

this section, shall be provided and in effect at the time of the cancellation or termination. The city 

clerk shall immediately issue written notification of the revocation of the permit and all licenses for 

the vehicle for hire business and the vehicles covered by insurance which is canceled or 

terminated.  

(d) By applying for and accepting a permit from the city for the purposes contained in this article, the 

holder of a permit shall hold the city harmless from any liability resulting from the operation of the 

holder's vehicle for hire business.  

(Code 2017, § 28-33; Ord. No. 2182, § 1, 2-14-1997; Ord. No. 2347, § 1, 9-24-2001; Ord. No. 2891, § 

1(28-33), 12-19-2016) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                                                   

_______________________________                                Attest: ______________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                    Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49

Item 8.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 3083 

 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-275, INSURANCE, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, 

OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 25-29, LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIRED, 

OF ARTICLE II, TAXICABS AND LIMOUSINES, OF CHAPTER 25, VEHICLES FOR HIRE, 

ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO 

UPDATE INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 7-275, Insurance, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, 

of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 7-275, Insurance, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-275. Insurance. 

                  Before any license required by this division shall be issued, the applicant shall first obtain and 

furnish to the city clerk satisfactory proof of commercial general liability insurance with limits of at least 

$1,000,000.00 per occurrence and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate, and such insurance shall be 

maintained during the period of the license. The insurance policy shall provide that the policy cannot be 

revoked, cancelled or modified in any material way until the city has been notified in writing at least ten 

days prior to the proposed action.  

(Code 2017, § 7-448) 

 Section 2.  Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, of Article II, Taxicabs and Limousines, 

of Chapter 25, Vehicles for Hire, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 25-29. Liability insurance required. 

(a) No permit shall be issued or continued in operation unless and until the owner of the vehicle for hire 

shall have furnished to the city clerk satisfactory proof of commercial automobile insurance 

providing insurance coverage as follows:  

(1) For taxicabs, commercial automobile insurance with combined single limit of at least $2,000,000.00.  

(2) For limousines, commercial automobile insurance with combined single limit of at least 

$2,000,000.00.  

(b) The insurance policy referred to in this section shall not be revoked, cancelled or modified in any 

material way until the city has been notified in writing at least ten days prior to the intended action. 

Satisfactory proof of insurance must accompany the application required in section 25-25.  

50

Item 8.



(c) The cancellation or other termination of any insurance policy issued in compliance with this section 

shall automatically revoke and terminate the permit and all licenses issued for the vehicle for hire 

business and the vehicles covered by the insurance policy, unless another policy, complying with 

this section, shall be provided and in effect at the time of the cancellation or termination. The city 

clerk shall immediately issue written notification of the revocation of the permit and all licenses for 

the vehicle for hire business and the vehicles covered by insurance which is canceled or 

terminated.  

(d) By applying for and accepting a permit from the city for the purposes contained in this article, the 

holder of a permit shall hold the city harmless from any liability resulting from the operation of the 

holder's vehicle for hire business.  

(Code 2017, § 28-33; Ord. No. 2182, § 1, 2-14-1997; Ord. No. 2347, § 1, 9-24-2001; Ord. No. 2891, § 

1(28-33), 12-19-2016) 

 

INTRODUCED:    September 16, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  September 16, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

                                                                                   

                                             

               Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                     

 

Attest: 

 

      
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

51

Item 8.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-276, BOND, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, OF 

ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 7-311, ISSUANCE, OF DIVISION 3, 

PERMIT, OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND 

BUILDING REGULATIONS; AND 3) AMENDING SECTION 10-73, UNLAWFUL DUMPING; 

FILLING ON PRIVATE LAND, OF ARTICLE III, CITY DUMPING GROUNDS, OF CHAPTER 

10, GARBAGE AND REFUSE; AND 4) AMENDING SECTION 13-103, BOND, OF DIVISION 

3, DISTRESS SALES, OF ARTICLE II, SPECIFIC BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 13, LICENSES AND BUSINESS REGULATIONS, ALL OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO UPDATE AND SIMPLIFY BOND 

REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 7-276, Bond, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-276, Bond, is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-276. Bond. 

The applicant for a license required by this division shall file with thehis application a bond with an 

approved corporate surety in the penal sum of $10,000.00, conditioned in accordance with the 

requirements of section 19-14that all work done under the license shall be done in a good and 

workmanlike manner, in accordance with all provisions of this Code and all other ordinances of the city 

relating to house moving, and that the applicant will pay to the city, to the city utilities or to any person all 

costs incurred or all damages for injuries to person or property, including, but not limited to, damages to 

any street, curb or sidewalk or to any other public property caused by negligence, fault or 

mismanagement of the applicant or person in his employ, or due to any other cause, in doing any work 

under the license or a permit for such work.  

(Code 2017, § 7-449) 

                    Section 2. Section 7-311, Issuance, of Division 3, Permit, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-311, Issuance, is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-311. Issuance. 

Upon the filing of the application for a permit to move a building, payment of the fee therefor and filing of 

bond, and upon approval of the proposed move by the city arborist, chief of police and the director of 

public works, the permit sought shall be issued by the building official.  

(Code 2017, § 7-477; Ord. No. 2941, § 2, 6-3-2019) 

52

Item 9.



                 Section 3. Section 10-73, Unlawful Dumping; Filling on Private Land, of Article III, City 

Dumping Grounds, of Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 10-73, Unlawful 

Dumping; Filling on Private Land, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 10-73. Unlawful dumping; filling on private land. 

Any person who shall use any lot, open space, street or roadway in the city, instead of the burying, 

dumping and burning ground provided for and established by the council, for the dumping or depositing of 

dead animal matter, garbage matter, offensive materials and substances and other refuse or rubbish shall 

be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished in accordance with section 1-

8; provided, however, that any person owning a lot or tract of ground which is low and in need of being 

filled may file with the city clerk a bond in the amount of $200.00 guaranteeing that such person will keep 

the lot or tract of ground in a sanitary and sightly condition, and may then have such lot or tract of ground 

filled by dumping rubbish such as ashes, earth and stones thereon on the approval of the director of 

public worksbond by the council.  

(Code 2017, § 12-64) 

                 Section 4. Section 13-103, Bond, of Division 3, Distress Sales, of Article II, Specific Businesses 

and Occupations, of Chapter 13, Licenses and Business Regulations, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Section 13-103, Bond, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 13-103. Bond. 

Before a license shall be issued by the council, the applicant for the license shall execute and deliver to 

the city a bond in the penal sum of $1,000.00 signed by the applicant, and also signed by a surety 

company duly authorized to transact business in the state, which bond shall be conditioned upon the 

faithful observance of the provisions of this division, payment of all sums that may become due to the city, 

and also conditioned to reimburse and indemnify any purchaser at the closing-out sale held by the 

applicant for any loss incurred or damage sustained by the purchaser by reason of misrepresentation or 

fraud in the sale of any such goods, wares or merchandise.  

(Code 2017, § 16-187) 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

 

__________________________________                                              Attest: ___________________________ 

     Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                                              Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

                                                                                                           

53

Item 9.



 

ORDINANCE NO. 3084 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-276, BOND, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, OF 

ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 7-311, ISSUANCE, OF DIVISION 3, 

PERMIT, OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND 

BUILDING REGULATIONS; AND 3) AMENDING SECTION 10-73, UNLAWFUL DUMPING; 

FILLING ON PRIVATE LAND, OF ARTICLE III, CITY DUMPING GROUNDS, OF CHAPTER 

10, GARBAGE AND REFUSE; AND 4) AMENDING SECTION 13-103, BOND, OF DIVISION 

3, DISTRESS SALES, OF ARTICLE II, SPECIFIC BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 13, LICENSES AND BUSINESS REGULATIONS, ALL OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO UPDATE AND SIMPLIFY BOND 

REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 7-276, Bond, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-276, Bond, is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-276. Bond. 

The applicant for a license required by this division shall file with the application a bond with an approved 

corporate surety in the penal sum of $10,000.00, conditioned in accordance with the requirements of 

section 19-14.  

(Code 2017, § 7-449) 

                    Section 2. Section 7-311, Issuance, of Division 3, Permit, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-311, Issuance, is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-311. Issuance. 

Upon the filing of the application for a permit to move a building, payment of the fee therefor, and upon 

approval of the proposed move by the city arborist, chief of police and the director of public works, the 

permit sought shall be issued by the building official.  

(Code 2017, § 7-477; Ord. No. 2941, § 2, 6-3-2019) 

                 Section 3. Section 10-73, Unlawful Dumping; Filling on Private Land, of Article III, City 

Dumping Grounds, of Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 10-73, Unlawful 

Dumping; Filling on Private Land, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

 

54

Item 9.



Sec. 10-73. Unlawful dumping; filling on private land. 

Any person who shall use any lot, open space, street or roadway in the city, instead of the burying, 

dumping and burning ground provided for and established by the council, for the dumping or depositing of 

dead animal matter, garbage matter, offensive materials and substances and other refuse or rubbish shall 

be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished in accordance with section 1-

8; provided, however, that any person owning a lot or tract of ground which is low and in need of being 

filled may have such lot or tract of ground filled by dumping rubbish such as ashes, earth and stones 

thereon on the approval of the director of public works.  

(Code 2017, § 12-64) 

                 Section 4. Section 13-103, Bond, of Division 3, Distress Sales, of Article II, Specific Businesses 

and Occupations, of Chapter 13, Licenses and Business Regulations, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Section 13-103, Bond, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 13-103. Bond. 

Before a license shall be issued by the council, the applicant for the license shall execute and deliver to 

the city a bond in the penal sum of $1,000.00 signed by the applicant, and also signed by a surety 

company duly authorized to transact business in the state, which bond shall be conditioned upon the 

faithful observance of the provisions of this division, payment of all sums that may become due to the city, 

and also conditioned to reimburse and indemnify any purchaser at the closing-out sale held by the 

applicant for any loss incurred or damage sustained by the purchaser by reason of misrepresentation or 

fraud in the sale of any such goods, wares or merchandise.  

(Code 2017, § 16-187) 

INTRODUCED:     September 16, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   September 16, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:           

 

                                                       

            Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                                               

 

Attest: 

 

      

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk                                                                                                     

55

Item 9.



MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

September 16, 2024 
 

The meeting of the Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 6:00 p.m. on September 16, 
2024, with the following Committee persons in attendance: Mayor Daniel Laudick, 
Councilmembers Chris Latta, Daryl Kruse, Aaron Hawbaker, Dustin Ganfield, Hannah 
Crisman, Kelly Dunn, and Gil Schultz. Staff members from various City Departments and 
members of the community attended in person.  

Committee of the Whole:  
Mayor Laudick called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the Committee of 
the Whole Agenda, UNI Update and introduced UNI President Dr. Mark Nook. Nook presented 
data on enrollment and 4-year graduation rates.  He reviewed UNI’s purpose statement; how 
UNI is creating opportunities and new degree programs; facilities upgrades and renovations at 
the Gallagher Bluedorn Performing Arts Center, the Campanile, and the UNI Dome; noted UNI 
alumni who competed in the Paralympics in Paris; thanked the City for the collaboration for the 
fireworks show at the Dome.  Nook announced that it will be UNI’s 150th anniversary upcoming 
and Homecoming 2025.  Nook, Councilmembers, and Mayor discussed:  how to improve 
enrollment and retention; the nursing program; appreciation for the student liaison program; 
partnership between UNI, College Hill, the Downtown District, and the City; how UNI can 
attract tourists and revenue. 
 
Mayor Laudick introduced the second item on the Committee of the Whole Agenda, Discussion 
of Cedar Falls Economic Development Corporation Contract and stated this conversation 
should provide direction for Council and staff moving forward; Mayor indicated that Jim Brown 
of the CFEDC was in attendance if Committeepersons have direct questions.  Brown, 
Councilmembers, staff, and Mayor discussed:  lapse of the original contract; non-profit and tax 
exempt status, lapse, and current actions to reinstate; does the CFEDC overlap with Grow 
Cedar Valley and City projects; past and future metrics outlined by the contract, changes that 
can be made moving forward; transparency in accounting without the tax exempt status; 
collaboration with Grow Cedar Valley and the City; CFEDC’s investment in the Housing Needs 
Assessment and the Housing Trust Fund; incentives for projects v. a lump sum contract 
amount; accountability written into any future contract as well as results and deliverables. City 
Attorney Rogers stated more information would be needed regarding the currently lapsed tax-
exempt status while the non-profit status remains. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:09 p.m.  

Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Supervisor 

56

Item 10.



57

Item 11.



58

Item 11.



59

Item 11.



60

Item 11.



61

Item 11.



62

Item 11.



63

Item 11.



64

Item 11.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Laudick and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  September 30, 2024 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Fleet Farm, 400 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 

b) Fleet Farm Fuel, 108 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 

c) Murphy USA, 518 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 

d) Casey's General Store, 1225 Fountains Way, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

e) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

f) Fleet Farm Fuel, 108 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - change in ownership. 

g) Shelly O’Shea’s Irish Pub, 401 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - new. 

65

Item 12.



66

Item 14.



67

Item 14.



68

Item 14.



69

Item 14.



70

Item 14.



71

Item 14.



72

Item 14.



73

Item 14.



74

Item 14.



75

Item 14.



76

Item 14.



77

Item 14.



78

Item 14.



79

Item 14.



80

Item 14.



81

Item 14.



82

Item 14.



83

Item 15.



84

Item 15.



85

Item 15.



86

Item 15.



87

Item 15.



88

Item 15.



89

Item 15.



90

Item 15.



91

Item 15.



92

Item 15.



93

Item 15.



94

Item 15.



95

Item 15.



96

Item 15.



97

Item 15.



98

Item 15.



99

Item 16.



100

Item 16.



101

Item 16.



102

Item 16.



103

Item 16.



104

Item 16.



105

Item 16.



106

Item 16.



107

Item 16.



108

Item 16.



109

Item 16.



110

Item 16.



111

Item 16.



112

Item 16.



113

Item 16.



114

Item 17.



115

Item 17.



116

Item 17.



117

Item 17.



118

Item 17.



119

Item 17.



120

Item 17.



121

Item 17.



122

Item 17.



123

Item 17.



124

Item 17.



125

Item 17.



126

Item 17.



127

Item 17.



128

Item 17.



129

Item 17.



130

Item 17.



131

Item 17.



132

Item 17.



133

Item 17.



134

Item 17.



135

Item 17.



136

Item 17.



137

Item 17.



138

Item 17.



139

Item 17.



140

Item 17.



141

Item 17.



142

Item 18.



143

Item 18.



144

Item 18.



145

Item 18.



146

Item 18.



147

Item 18.



148

Item 18.



149

Item 18.



150

Item 18.



151

Item 18.



152

Item 18.



153

Item 18.



154

Item 18.



155

Item 18.



156

Item 18.



157

Item 18.



158

Item 18.



159

Item 18.



160

Item 18.



161

Item 18.



162

Item 19.



163

Item 19.



164

Item 19.



165

Item 19.



166

Item 19.



167

Item 19.



168

Item 19.



169

Item 19.



170

Item 19.



171

Item 19.



172

Item 19.



173

Item 19.



174

Item 19.



175

Item 19.



176

Item 19.



177

Item 19.



178

Item 19.



179

Item 19.



180

Item 19.



181

Item 19.



September 20, 2024

Kim Kerr
City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
RE:  Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District (SSMID)

Dear Ms. Kerr:

The downtown SSMID was originally established in 1987 with the purpose to provide funding
for Community Main Street, Inc. (CMS). Downtown property owners have opted to renew
SSMID, as required by the State statue, every five years since inception with the intent to
continue financial support of CMS.   

Under the provisions for the SSMID district established for the period of July 1, 2022 and ending
June 30, 2027. Cedar Falls Community Main Street is responsible to determine the SSMID
millage rate each year. CMS would propose that the SSMID collected for the FY2026 at the rate
of $3.89 per $1000 of assessed property value for commercial properties within the district.
This rate provides funding equal to the previous SSMID period.   

During the budgeting period for FY2026, CMS will review this financial position in relationship to
increased property tax for commercial properties in the commercial district. Going forward, we
will annually assess the rate as required by the SSMID ordinance ending June 30, 2027. 
 
Please feel free to contact me at 277-0213 if you have any questions. Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

C E D A R  F A L L S  C O M M U N I T Y  M A I N  S T R E E T ,  I N C .  I S  A  V O L U N T E E R - D R I V E N ,  N O N - P R O F I T
O R G A N I Z A T I O N  E S T A B L I S H E D  T O  F O S T E R  E C O N O M I C  V I T A L I T Y ,  A N D  T O  P R E S E R V E  A N D

P R O M O T E  T H E  H I S T O R I C  I M A G E  A N D  C H A R A C T E R  O F  T H E  D O W N T O W N ,  W H I L E
I M P R O V I N G  T H E  Q U A L I T Y  O F  L I F E  I N  C E D A R  F A L L S .

3 1 0  E .  4 T H  S T R E E T ,  C E D A R  F A L L S ,  I A  5 0 6 1 3       
D I R E C T O R @ C O M M U N I T Y M A I N S T R E E T . O R G  -  3 1 9 . 2 7 7 . 0 2 1 3

Kim Bear
Executive Director
Community Main Street 

2024-2025 
Board of Directors:

Emilee Nedoba-Pres.
Wynette Froehner
Lexie Heath
Deanna Hoffmann
Brent Johnson
Cory Kent
Jenny Leeper
Dan Lynch
Whitney Mrozinski
Helen Pearce
Lauren Riensche
Stephanie Sheetz

182

Item 20.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: September 19, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  Warranty Deed, 1621 E. Ridgewood Drive 
 
 
 
Accompanying this Memorandum please find a Warranty Deed in connection with the 

Cedar Heights area reconstruction project.  This Deed is for acquisition in fee of a very 

small portion (12 square feet) of 1621 E. Ridgewood Drive in Cedar Falls, Project Parcel 

# 215, owned by David and Mary Jackson.  This acquisition is necessary for additional 

right-of-way.  

 

Council has already approved the purchase agreement for this parcel.  Staff 

recommends approval and acceptance of the Warranty Deed. 

 

Let me know if you have any additional questions.  

183

Item 21.



184

Item 21.



185

Item 21.



186

Item 21.



187

Item 21.



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO.  

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A WARRANTY DEED 

IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE NORTH CEDAR HEIGHTS AREA 
RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT 

 
 

WHEREAS, City Staff has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, a Warranty Deed, from David A. & Mary C. Jackson, in conjunction with the 

North Cedar Heights Area Reconstruction Project, Project No. RC-092-3271, Parcel 

215, be approved and accepted, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and accept said Warranty Deed. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that said Warranty Deed, is hereby approved and accepted. 

 
ADOPTED this 7th day of October, 2024. 
 

                                                  
_________________________ 

                                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

188

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Melissa Denning, Community Services Supervisor 
 DATE: October 7, 2024 

 SUBJECT: 2024 SAFMR Updated Payment Standards for Housing Choice Voucher Program  
 
INTRODUCTION 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) has recently released updated 
Small Area Fair Market Rents (SAFMR) for the Cedar Falls Area. The payment standards for the 
Housing Choice Voucher Program must be based on fair market rents, so must be updated every 
year.   
 
Last year, HUD allowed the option for communities where rents vary significantly across a metro area 
to use “Small Area Fair Market Rents” based on specific zip code areas. Cedar Falls is one of the zip 
code areas where using these more targeted payment standards is an option, given the city’s 
relatively higher cost rental market within the metro area.  Historically, the City has opted to set the 
payment standards at 110% of the area fair market rents to provide greater rental options for those 
with Housing Choice Vouchers.  Staff recommends continuing with that practice.  
 
The Housing Commission reviewed the payment standards at their meeting on September 18th, 2024, 
and recommends approval.  
 
ANALYSIS 
The table below compares the current payment standards with the proposed updated standards. 
  

HCV PROGRAM - CURRENT VERSUS PROPOSED PAYMENT STANDARDS  

 0 Bed 1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed 4 Bed 

Current payment standard 
(110%) $803 $924 $1177 $1562 $2002 

2024 SAFMR payment standard 
(110%) $847 $935 $1232 $1606 $2068 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
The Housing Commission recommends that the City Council approve the proposal to set the 2024 
payment standards at 110% of the SAFMR for Cedar Falls recently released by HUD, as shown in the 
table above. If approved, the new standards would go into effect on November 1, 2024.  
 

189

Item 22.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), AICP, City Planner II 

 DATE: September 30, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Certified Local Government Grant Contract 

 
The Cedar Falls Historic Preservation Commission received a Certified Local 
Government (CLG) grant from the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) to conduct 
a historic reconnaissance survey of the Overman Park Neighborhood. City Council 
approved the grant agreement with SHPO in June, after which a request for proposals 
was issued seeking professional services to help with the research and survey work, 
train volunteers, and compile and present the findings to the public. 
 
In response, staff received one proposal. Since the timeline to complete the grant is 
short and there are limited consultants with this type of expertise, staff and the Chair of 
the Historic Preservation Commission decided not to extend the deadline and seek 
additional proposals. Staff and the Commission Chair interviewed the firm that 
submitted the sole proposal, Urbana Preservation & Planning LLC, and found them to 
be very experienced with similar projects and highly qualified to provide educational 
training to volunteers.  
 
The Historic Preservation Commission recommends entering into a contract with 
Urbana Preservation and Planning, LLC. for $12,200.  As required by the grant, SHPO 
has reviewed and approved the proposed contract language. The contract, signed by 
the consultant, is attached for your review and approval. It is anticipated that the project 
will be completed by Spring 2025, at which time the survey findings will be presented to 
the public.  
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact the Planning & Community 
Services Division. 
 
Attachments: Contract with Urbana Preservation & Planning LLC.  
 
xc: Ron Gaines, City Administrator  
 Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
    

190

Item 23.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Urbana Preservation & Planning, LLC 

This Agreement is by and between Urbana Preservation & Planning, LLC (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa (“City”), and is to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of those services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor 

as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 

authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 

Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 

presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 

work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 

not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 

warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 

required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 

Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 

Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 

approved by the city. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 

under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 

third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 

the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 

provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 

full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 

Agreement. The Contractor shall invoice the City for Services completed at a minimum every three months, so the 

City can complete grant reporting requirements in a timely manner.  

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of the Services, City shall pay Contractor in 

accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 

be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 

case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum, the name and address of the Contractor, the 

invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 

191

Item 23.



2 
 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 

or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 

provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 

on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving seven (7) days 

written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 

faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 

services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 

(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 

Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 

property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 

and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 

City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 

rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 

other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 

of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 

and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 

providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 

information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 

years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 

Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 

inspection by the City or designee.  

5.0.       Term and Termination. 

5.1.       The term of this Agreement shall commence on the effective date and end on August 29th, 2025, unless 

earlier terminated under the terms of this Agreement. 

5.2        The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 

Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 

before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 

192

Item 23.



3 
 

prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 

is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 

approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 

from the Contractor. 

5.3.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 

other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 

initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 

standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 

component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 

meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 

the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 

days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 

satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 

Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 

as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 

acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 

remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 

availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 

Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 

any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 

entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 

City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 

privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 

Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 

dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 

all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 

payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 

193

Item 23.



4 
 

continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 

incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 

mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 

mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification and Hold Harmless. 

9.1.       To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor (for purposes of this Section 9.0, includes employees, 

subcontractors, agents and others working on behalf of Contractor under this Agreement) agrees to defend (for all 

non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City (for purposes of this Section 9.0 includes elected and 

appointed officials, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City) against any and all claims, demands, suits 

or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages, which may be asserted, 

claimed or recovered against or from the City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal 

injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damage, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 

associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City under this Agreement, to the extent 

caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the Contractor.  

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 

or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement.  Such duty also includes damage, loss or injury to the City or City property. 

9.3.       Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for loss, expense, damages or injuries which may result to 

the Contractor by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by Contractor under this 

Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the 

Contractor. 

9.4.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 

member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 

suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “C” 

unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived:  _______________________________________________ (Signature and title of 

authorized City employee or officer) 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations and shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that its 

employees, agents, subcontractors and others working on behalf of the Contractor under this Agreement do the 

same. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 

applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 

chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 

delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 

as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

194

Item 23.



5 
 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 

employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 

deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 

procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 

connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 

contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 

such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 

into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex, 

color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where 

age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational 

disqualification.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 

the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 

Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 

participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  

Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 

Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 

excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums yet 

due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 

order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 

such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 

labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to in this 

Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of performance by 

either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if 

and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 

exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 

party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 

such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

195

Item 23.



6 
 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 

Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 

City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 

approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 

bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 

quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 

Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 

shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 

bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 

and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 

agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 

information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 

submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 

designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 

to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 

endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 

asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 

the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 

employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 

disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 

occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

196

Item 23.



7 
 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 

confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 

for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 

party, or as required by law, or by an order of a court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 

confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 

until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 

entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 

representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 

be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 

and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 

provided to: 

City:                                                                                              Contractor: 

Name: Karen Howard Name: Wendy L. Tinsley Becker  

Title: Planning & Community Service Manager Title: Principal / Manager 

Address: 220 Clay Street, Address: 7705 El Cajon Blvd., Unit 1 

 Cedar Falls, Iowa, 50613 La Mesa, CA 91942 

Telephone: 319-268-5169 Telephone: (619) 302-0425 / cell & (844) 872-2624 . office 

Email: Karen.Howard@cedarfalls.com Email: wendy@urbanapreservation.com  

 

26.0.       Incorporation of Exhibits. 

All Exhibits attached to this Agreement are incorporated herein by this reference. If there is any conflict between this 

Agreement and any Exhibit, the terms of the Exhibit shall govern.  

197

Item 23.



8 
 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 

below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

Urbana Preservation & Planning, LLC 

By:  

 

Its: Principal / Manager                         Date: September 24, 2024 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: __________________________________ 
        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 
             Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  

198

Item 23.



9 
 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services 
 

Task 1: Introduction (October 2024) 

 Contractor shall provide professional services to assist the City in completing a reconnaissance-

level historical survey of the Overman Park Neighborhood (includes approximately 465 

properties. (See  Exhibit “D”, project boundary map, for reference) 

 City will be sending out notification to property owners in the survey area to notify of the project 

kick-off meeting.  

 Contractor will conduct a virtual Kick-Off meeting with the local project team. (October 8, 2024)   

o Introduction / Project Goals  

o City will provide GIS data, confirm schedule, provide volunteer contacts. 

 Contractor will host a Virtual Training Session for all volunteers  (October 15, 2024)   

o Contractor will conduct a virtual training session for project volunteers that includes: (1) 

project goals / scope of work, (2) safety / PPE, (3) overview of inventory forms and 

survey spreadsheet / database, (4) architectural styles in the survey area and character-

defining features, (5) photo guidance, (6) volunteer assignments and schedules. 

o Contractor will provide a survey handout and survey tools. 

 

Task 2: Desk and Field Survey (October 2024 – January 2025) 

 Contractor will travel to Cedar Falls for field survey work and provide necessary training to 

volunteers to complete the field survey.  (October 28 - 30, 2024)   

 Contractor will work with the City and volunteers to complete desk and field survey. 

 Contractors will share resources on safety tips, survey methods, architectural styles, photography 

guidelines, etc.  

 Contractor will assign tasks to volunteers to pair up and photograph each property assigned. All 

photographs will have to have a comprehensive log. Photos to be uploaded to Project Google 

Drive folder following file name protocol by November 15, 2024. (Volunteer spreadsheet entries 

due by November 15, 2024.) 

 Contractor to complete a Resource Inventory Spreadsheet (RIS), the Historical Architectural Data 

Base (HADB) form, a historic context statement and other data needed for Multiple Property 

Documentation (MPD). 

Task 3: Research (October 2024 – January 2025) 

 Contractor to conduct contextual and property-specific research.  

 Contractor to prepare information on project activities and methodology. 

Task 4: Reporting (February 2025 – July 2025) 

 Contractor to complete Draft Survey Report as per State Historic Preservation guidelines and 

submit to City for review and comments. (February 2025 – April 2025) 

 City to share the draft survey report with State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) for review and 

comments by April 2025. 

 City to gather comments from SHPO and share it with the Contractor for revisions. (April 2025)  

 Contractor to revise and submit Final Survey Report, Context, and Site Data to the City by May 

2025. 

199

Item 23.



10 
 

 City and Historic Preservation Commission will host a public meeting where the Contractor will 

share the survey results with the public. (May 2025). 

 Contractor will travel to Cedar Falls to present the survey results in at a public meeting at a 

mutually agreeable date in May or June 2025.  

 City to submit final survey report to SHPO (July 2025) 

 
 
 

200

Item 23.



11 
 

Exhibit B 

Payment Terms 
 

 

Project Cost: 

 Total Project Cost inclusive of all time, materials, and travel expense, including  two (in-person) 

site visits: $12,200.00 

 Total Project Cost includes all tasks for the project as defined in the Scope of Services document 

(Exhibit “A”) 

Payment Terms: 

 Send invoices to the Representative of the City as outlined in the Contract, at a minimum every 
three months, for Services completed, with details on project activities completed. 

201

Item 23.



12 
 

Exhibit C 

Insurance 
 

202

Item 23.



13 
 

 
 

Exhibit D 
 

Project Location Map 
 
 

203

Item 23.



204

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Principal Engineer, PhD, PE 
 
 DATE: September 23, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
  Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvement Project 
  City Project Number: RC-232-3308 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 2 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval is the Supplemental Agreement No. 2 to the 
Professional Services Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for the Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvement 
Project. This Supplemental Agreement provides staking services involved with the 
southern property right-of-way acquisition, additional planning and design adjustments 
for staging and the impacts on the Iowa DOT highway right-of-way, drafting and 
coordination of utility easement for the overhead electrical relocation, and the design 
implementation for a security camera at this intersection. Compensation for the services 
shall be on an hourly basis and in a total amount not to exceed $15,700. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for the Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvement 
Project on June 5th, 2023. The project will be funded by a Traffic Safety Improvement 
Grant and Tax Increment Financing – Pinnacle Prairie District. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of this Supplemental Agreement No. 2 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 
the Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvement Project.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

205

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 
FAX 319-268-5197` 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 2 

 
Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvements 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number SW-232-3308 

 
 
WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (CLIENT), 
and Snyder & Associates, Inc. (CONSULTANT), of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, dated June 5, 2023 for the Prairie 
Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to modify the Scope 
of Services and Compensation for Construction Phase items as a part of the Prairie Parkway and Viking Road 
Intersection Improvements,  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the Scope of Services included with the Professional 
Services Agreement and specifically noted in Supplemental Agreement No. 2 as follows:  
 

I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 The Scope of Services and basis for Compensation derivation is as follows: 
 

A. The CONSULTANT shall complete staking survey for the sites described below. 
1. As part of the acquisition agreement with Deere & Company, the City agreed the 

CONSULTANT shall stake the new fence Deere & Company will be constructing. The 
CONSULTANT has already completed survey on Deere & Company property and already 
has security clearance.    
 

B. The CONSULTANT shall develop and incorporate into the plans and specifications the following: 
1. Design for the future addition of video monitoring cameras at five light poles adjacent to 

the roundabout.  Work includes two additional conduits (power and fiber) to five light 
poles, light pole footing modifications, handholes, and wiring.  

2. The addition and modification of plan sheets, bid items, quantities, and details.  
3. The design of a fiber cabinet footing for a future video monitoring camera, fiber, and 

power.  
4. Adjustments to the traffic control plan from comments provided by Iowa Department of 

Transportation. The project must have a DOT Right-of-Way permit to be within the DOT’s 
Right-of-Way. This includes the addition of five plan sheets.  

5. Add language to the special provisions about concrete requirements and smoothness. 
C. The CONSULTANT shall prepare the following easement documents: 

1. As part of the overhead electrical utility line relocations a new easement is desired for 
Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) to place their relocated electrical lines and poles within. 

2. The CONSULTANT shall Coordinate with the Client and CFU to determine the limits and 
language to included with a permanent utility easement. 

3. The CONSULTANT shall prepare the Permanent Utility Easement Plat.  
All items include additional plan sheets, items, and quantities. Additional coordination meetings 

with the City.  

206

Item 24.



Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvements 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SW-232-3308 

 
II.  COMPENSATION 
 
 Compensation for this scope of Services modification shall be on an hourly basis in accordance 

with the hourly fees and other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed.  
Total compensation for this amendment is a not to exceed fee of Fifteen thousand seven hundred 
($15,700). This compensation shall be added to and included with the services and monthly invoice 
for this project.  
 

III. In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as specified in 
the Professional Services Agreement dated June 5, 2023 and as previously modified by supplemental 
agreements.  

 
 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 
 

APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 

 

By:  By:  
 
 

Printed Name:  Printed Name:   Lindsay Beaman               
 
 

Title:  Title:        Business Unit Leader                      
 
 

Date:  Date:    

207

Item 24.

lbeaman
Stamp

lbeaman
Text Box
Sept 24, 2024



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610  
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 FROM: Melissa Denning, Community Services Supervisor 

 DATE: October 7, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Request to set date of public hearing reviewing the FFY23 Community 
Development Block Grant Consolidated Annual Performance and 
Evaluation Report (CAPER) 

 
 
  
As a requirement from HUD, the Community Development Department would like to 
request that a public hearing be held on Monday, October 21, 2024, to review the 
FFY23 Community Development Block Grant Consolidated Annual Performance and 
Evaluation Report (CAPER). The report contains the progress made on Community 
Development Block Grant funded activities from July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024.  
The report will be included in the next Council’s agenda packet. 
 
Per the adopted CDBG Citizen Participation Plan, notice of a 15-day review period was 
published on October 3, 2024, in anticipation of scheduling a public hearing on October 
21, 2024.   
 
The Housing Commission met on September 18, 2024, to review the CAPER, and 
recommended that it be set for public hearing for approval at the October 21, 2024, 
meeting. 
 
Please contact the Community Development Department with any questions. 
 
 
 
 

208

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, AICP, Planner II 

 DATE: October 7, 2024  

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment – Accessory Dwelling Units (TA24-003) 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
In a Committee of the Whole meeting on March 18, 2024, Council made a referral directing 
staff to prepare an ordinance to allow accessory dwelling units (ADUs) citywide. Currently 
they are only allowed in the Downtown Character District (CD-DT). An ADU is a smaller 
secondary dwelling unit that is accessory to a principal dwelling unit. They are commonly 
created within the principal dwelling, for example, in a daylight basement or within a detached 
accessory structure, such as above a garage. In cities that allow them, properties with an 
ADU are differentiated from duplexes primarily through limitations and restrictions that ensure 
the ADU is subordinate to a principal dwelling. 
 
WHY ADUs? 
The Housing Needs Assessment completed in 2023 identified shortfalls in the housing supply 
within Cedar Falls. This needs assessment has since been a topic of discussion for the 
Housing Commission and the City Council. One of the recommendations of that report was to 
expand the ADU policy to apply more broadly across the city. 
 
In 2021 AARP conducted a national Home and Community Preferences Survey. This survey 
revealed that adults would consider creating an ADU in order to: 

 Provide a home for a loved one in need of care (86%) 

 Provide housing for relatives or friends (86%) 

 Have a space for guests (82%) 

 Create a place for a caregiver to stay (74%) 

 Increase the value of their home (69%) 

 Feel safer by having someone living nearby (67%) 

 Earn extra income from renting to a tenant (63%) 
 
Aside from the above benefits to owners, ADUs have several other benefits to the broader 
community. For example, ADUs: 

 Are an economical housing option, 

 Increase the taxable value of properties, 

 Add small, affordable housing units with little change to the neighborhood character; 

209

Item 26.



 Are inexpensive to maintain and have a low carbon footprint, 

 Are sized to accommodate today’s smaller average household size, and 

 Can house people of all ages. 
 

As discussed above, allowance for ADUs can be a facet of our broader effort to increase 
housing within the city. If done right, it can stabilize neighborhoods by adding flexibility for 
homeowners to continue to reside on their property through many stages of their lives. It can 
also provide rental income for homeowners.  
 

METHODOLOGY 
In drafting the code language specifically for ADUs, staff used the provisions in the 
Downtown Character District code (CD-DT) as a starting point. Staff also researched best 
practices for ADU ordinances in the U.S. and Canada, and considered provisions adopted by 
other cities in Iowa, namely: Des Moines, Ames, Iowa City, and Cedar Rapids. Discussions 
with persons in those jurisdictions were also helpful. The provisions in CD-DT serve as the 
basis for this code draft. The CD-DT has clear and objective standards for size, placement, 
and design. To be consistent, the proposed code language includes similar standards. 
 
PROPOSED STANDARDS 
The detailed standards proposed for ADUs are attached. This language is crafted to account 
for potential issues or concerns that could arise.  
 
The basic standards include:  

 Allowed only on owner-occupied properties; 

 No more than one ADU per lot 

 Limited to one bedroom; 

 Size limited to 50% of the floor area of the principal dwelling or 800 square feet, 
whichever is less.  

 Allowed only in the rear yard (as an accessory structure) or within the existing principal 
dwelling.  

 Certain design standards apply, similar to standards currently in the code for 
accessory structures.  

 
The standards ensure that neighborhood character is maintained regardless of the context. 
The current limits on detached accessory structures will still apply. For instance, today the 
maximum footprint of all accessory structures on most lots in the city is between 891 and 
1,024 square feet. Those limits will not increase. The primary change here is to allow a 
portion of that allowance to be used for an ADU.  
 
Worth noting is that communities are often slow to adopt an ADU ordinance where the 
administrative burden of rental licensing, inspections, and enforcement present new 
challenges they are not equipped for. However, Cedar Falls already has a rental licensing 
program and the anticipated administrative burden will be no different than other rentals 
within the city. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
Since ADUs are an accessory use, staff is proposing to create an accessory use section of 
the code with general standards defined for all accessory uses. These general standards are 

210

Item 26.



included in the attached proposed code language. This does not substantively change 
regulations in relation to accessory uses but it provides an appropriate place to enumerate 
each accessory use and the standards that specifically apply to each. In other words, it 
provides a place for the standards of ADUs to be outlined and is in anticipation of future code 
updates wherein the code can be more intuitively organized as existing accessory uses in the 
code are amended and new ones are added. 
 
Notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing was published in the WCF 
Courier on September 17th, 2024.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
At their meeting on September 25, 2024, on a vote of 7 ayes, 1 nay, and 1 abstain, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval of the proposed zoning code text 
amendment. Now, therefore, staff recommends that City Council set the date of public 
hearing on this matter for October 21, 2024. 
 
Minutes from the Planning and Zoning Commission meetings are noted below.   
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Discussion 
8/28/2024 

Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background 
information. He explained that City Council made a referral to staff at a 
Committee of the Whole meeting in March to prepare an ordinance to allow 
accessory dwelling units (ADU’s) in residential zones. They are currently only 
allowed downtown. He explained that an ADU is defined as a small secondary 
dwelling unit that is accessory to an owner-occupied, detached single-unit 
dwelling. He also provided information to explain the benefits of ADU’s, which 
included an increase of the taxable value of properties, they can add small, 
affordable housing units with little change to the neighborhood character, they 
are inexpensive to maintain and tend to have a low carbon footprint, they are 
sized to accommodate today’s smaller average household size and can house 
people of all ages. 
 
Staff is proposing that they be only allowed on owner-occupied properties with 
allowance of no more than one ADU per lot. They would be limited to one 
bedroom and the size would be limited to 50% of the floor area of the principal 
dwelling or 800 square feet, whichever is less. They would only be allowed in the 
rear yard or within the existing principal dwelling. Detached ADUs would have a 
5-foot side and rear setback. Mr. Sevy discussed design standards, stating that 
they must be a permanent structure, the materials and windows would need to 
match the principal structure, it would need a separate secure entrance and a 
paved path to that entrance. Two egress windows in the basement units would 
be required and no exterior stairs to upper stories would be allowed, with the 
exception of a second story of a detached garage. 
 
At this time, staff is bringing the item forward for introduction and discussion 
purposes. If there are no significant concerns about the proposed code provision, 
staff recommends setting a public hearing to take place at the next meeting.  
 
Sorensen asked how this affects the maximum footprint of outbuilding if it is part 

211

Item 26.



of a detached garage. Mr. Sevy explained that the maximum size rule still 
applies the same for any outbuilding(s) on the lot. However, if a unit is added 
above the garage, only the footprint of the garage counts against that allowance. 
Sorensen also asked about whether the unit can be a rental. Mr. Sevy explained 
that renting the unit would be allowed but a rental permit would only be issued for 
one of the dwelling units on the property.  
 
Moser asked about parking and how it is decided for these properties. Mr. Sevy 
explained the owner is allowed to work that out with the tenant.  
 
Chair Hartley asked about other towns who allowed ADU’s and Mr. Sevy gave 
examples, noting most are college towns.  
 
Stalnaker asked why ADU’s are not allowed above attached garages. Mr. Sevy 
stated it is mostly for aesthetic reasons because having the extra outside stairs 
becomes an issue. Ms. Howard noted that if there was enough room on the lot 
and could meet the setbacks for the principal structure, they would be able to 
add an enclosed stairway. 
 
Henderson asked how it is policed to ensure the main structure is owner-
occupied. Mr. Sevy stated that a rental unit would only be issued for one unit on 
the property. That unit would be inspected initially and every three years after 
that. It also becomes very apparent when looking at the county records and 
noting where the taxable address is different from the subject property. 
 
Grybovych asked how this has helped other communities using ADU’s with 
rental issues. Mr. Sevy stated that, when allowed, it is typical that a relatively 
small percentage of property owners build ADUs. However, an ADU policy can 
be an important piece of a broader effort to alleviate housing issues. 
 
Gabe Groothuis, stated support for ADU’s and would like it to be allowed for 
rental properties. He gave an example of a situation where there was a mother-
in-law suite and the mother-in-law is no longer living there, what do they do with 
the space then? 
 
Noah Klunder, 1430 Green Creek, would like it to apply to rental properties and 
stated his support for ADU’s as well. 
 
Sorensen made a motion to approve moving the item to a public hearing for 
September 11, 2024. Stalnaker seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, Henderson, Johnson, 
Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

  
Discussion 
9/25/2024 

Chair Hartley introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background 
information. He explained that this item was discussed at the Planning and 
Zoning Commission on August 28. He gave a brief recap of what was discussed, 
such as the proposed standards and the content/purpose of the accessory use 
code section that staff is proposing as a placeholder for ADUs and other 
accessory uses, and stated that staff recommends approval of the proposed 

212

Item 26.



amendments to Chapter 26, Zoning.  
  
Sorensen asked how this pertains to new construction, such as someone 
wishing to build a brand new house, could they also have this second dwelling 
from the beginning? Mr. Sevy stated that this would be acceptable. Sorensen 
also asked if this would supersede neighborhood covenants. Mr. Sevy stated 
that it doesn’t necessarily. Ms. Howard explained that the City does not enforce 
such private covenants, however staff recommends that applicants for an ADU 
find out if there are any neighborhood covenants that could cause an issue that 
would create a legal issue with the neighbors. This recommendation will be 
included in an information pamphlet that will be made available at City Hall 
if/when this code provision passes. 
 
Craig Fairbanks, 405 Spruce Hills Drive, spoke in favor of the ADU units. He had 
questions regarding the classifications of such units. He asked why the structure 
is limited to one bedroom. Sevy explained that they are following what council 
has approved in the downtown code. Fairbanks also asked about some of the 
potential building requirements. 
 
Gabe Groothius, 3215 Homeway, shared that he is in favor of this code 
amendment and stated that after talking to other communities he can see ways 
that could make these ADU’s even more effective for meeting housing needs.  
 
Sorensen noted that he feels that there may be too much potential restriction 
with regard to renting these properties. He also feels that the number of 
bedrooms should be revisited. Hartley stated that he likes the idea of starting 
with more restrictions to see how it goes and then adjust with experience. 
 
Henderson asked about issues with landlords keeping the properties in good 
condition. Ms. Howard stated that there are rental properties that have had 
issues, but there are also a lot of properties that are well kept. She explained the 
different considerations that went into the decision that was made. 
 
Grybovych recommended proceeding with caution regarding the homeowner 
requirement.  
 
There was further discussion by the Commission and the audience regarding the 
restrictions and the requirements. 
  
Moser made a motion to approve the item. Henderson seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved with 7 ayes (Alberhasky, Hartley, Henderson, Johnson, 
Moser, Stalnaker and Watkins), 1 abstention (Grybovych) and 1 nay (Sorensen). 

 
Attachments:  Proposed ADU Code Language 
  
 

  

 

213

Item 26.



Amend the definition of “Accessory use or structure” within Section 26-2 Definitions, as 
follows:  

Accessory use or structure means a use or structure on the same lot with and of a nature 
customarily incidental and subordinate to the principal use or structure, and as further 
described in Section 26-142 Accessory Uses. Said accessory structures are customarily used for 
storage or parking purposes. No residential dwelling unit or business or commercial office may 
be established within an accessory structure. 

 

Add a definition of “Accessory Dwelling Unit” as follows:  

Accessory dwelling unit is a small secondary dwelling unit that is accessory to a detached single-
unit dwelling either created within the existing building envelope of the principal dwelling, or 
within a detached accessory structure according to the rules set forth in this chapter. Properties 
with ADUs shall not be considered duplexes. 

 

Amend Sec 26-139 Prohibition on conversion of single-unit residences located in R-1 and R-2 
Residence Districts to two-unit dwelling units, as follows:  

Notwithstanding the provisions of any other section of this article, no existing single-unit 
residential structure located in an R-1 residence zoning district or in an R-2 residence zoning 
district of the city shall be converted or otherwise structurally altered or expanded for the 
purpose of accommodating the creation or establishment of a second separate dwelling unit 
within, around or adjacent to the original single-unit residential structure, except for an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit as provided for in this chapter. 

 

Add a new Sec. 26-142 - Accessory Uses, as follows:  

Sec. 26-142 – Accessory Uses  

(a) Generally. Accessory uses, buildings or other structures customarily incidental to and 
commonly associated with a permitted principal use or conditional use are permitted, 
provided they are operated and maintained according to the following standards: 

 (1) The accessory use is subordinate to the principal use of the property and contributes 
to the comfort, well-being, convenience, or necessity of occupants, customers, or 
employees of the principal use; 

(2) The accessory use, building or structure is under the same ownership as the principal 
use or uses on the property; 

(3) The accessory use, building or structure does not include structures, structural 
features, or activities inconsistent with the principal uses to which they are accessory; 

214

Item 26.



(4) Except for off-street parking located on a separate lot as specifically allowed in the 
subject zoning district, the accessory use, building, or structure is located on the same 
lot as the principal use or uses to which it is accessory; and 

(5) The accessory use, building or structure conforms to the applicable zoning district 
regulations and to the specific approval criteria and development standards 
contained in this chapter. 

(b) Specific accessory uses and standards enumerated. The following accessory uses may be 
established in accordance with the specific standards set forth herein: 

(1) Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs)  

a. Applicability. An ADU is permitted in an owner-occupied detached single-unit 
dwelling or in a building that is accessory to an owner-occupied detached single-
unit dwelling, not including cottages within a cottage court, according to the 
regulations set forth in this section. 

b. Rental License and Occupancy. Only one dwelling unit on the lot will be allowed a 
rental license (either the ADU or the principal dwelling, but not both). The owner 
of the property must occupy at least one of the dwelling units on the property as 
the permanent legal resident. The ADU and the principal dwelling must be under 
the same ownership.  The maximum rental occupancy: two adults (children are 
not precluded). 

c. Site Plan Review Required. An application for site plan review for the ADU shall 
be submitted to the City for administrative approval through the site plan 
process as established by the City. 

d. Limits. ADUs are subject to the following restrictions: 

1. No more than one ADU per lot. 

2. No more than one bedroom per ADU. 

3. For a detached ADU, the building footprint and height shall not exceed the 
maximums set forth in Section 26-126, Detached Accessory Structures.   

4. Minimum size: 125 square feet.   

5 Maximum size: Floor area of an ADU shall not exceed 50% of the floor area 
of the principal dwelling (excluding the area of any attached garage), or 800 
square feet, whichever is less.  This maximum also applies to ADUs within 
accessory structures. 

e. Location. ADUs are only allowed in the rear yard or within the existing building 
envelope of the principal dwelling. Minor additions to the existing principal 
dwelling will be allowed to create a separate entry into an ADU. 

f.  Side and Rear Setback for detached structures: 5 feet minimum. 

g. Standards. The following standards apply:  

215

Item 26.



1. All detached ADUs regardless of size shall meet the design and material 
standards set forth in paragraph 26-126 (13), including all subparagraphs. 

2. A permanent structure is required. No wheeled or transportable structures 
will be permitted. 

3. Although utilities may be shared, it must otherwise be a complete, separate 
dwelling unit from the principal dwelling. This includes walled separation for 
ADUs within the principal building envelope. 

4. It must contain its own kitchen and bathroom facilities. 

5. A separate, secure entrance to the unit is required, either from the exterior 
or from a shared foyer.  

6. No exterior stairs leading to an upper story are allowed for access to an 
ADU located within the principal residence. Exterior stairs are allowed to 
access a unit above a detached garage. Exterior stairs must have a 
protective finish. A secondary means of egress is not required for an ADU.  

7. A paved pedestrian path to the entryway of the ADU is required. 

8. For detached structures and upper story units in a principal dwelling, 
window type and coverage shall be similar to that of the principal dwelling.  

9. For basement units, a minimum of two windows meeting egress standards 
shall be required. 

h. Exceptions. If there is intent to repurpose an existing detached accessory 
structure that does not conform to the setback or height standards of this 
ordinance, an applicant may appeal to the Board of Adjustment for a special 
exception. 

i. Required Acknowledgement. A permit for an ADU will only be issued with a 
signed acknowledgement from the owner that the proposed ADU is considered 
an accessory use and as such does not establish any rights to use or sell the 
property as a duplex. All limits, encumbrances, and obligations in relation to the 
ADU will apply to future owners.  

 

216

Item 26.



217

Item 27.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 10/07/24 COUNCIL MEETING



218

Item 27.



219

Item 27.



220

Item 27.



221

Item 27.



222

Item 27.



223

Item 27.



224

Item 27.



225

Item 27.



226

Item 27.



227

Item 27.



228

Item 27.



229

Item 27.



230

Item 27.



231

Item 27.



232

Item 27.



233

Item 27.



234

Item 27.



235

Item 27.



236

Item 27.



237

Item 27.



238

Item 27.



239

Item 27.



240

Item 27.



241

Item 27.



242

Item 27.



243

Item 27.



244

Item 27.



245

Item 27.



246

Item 27.



247

Item 27.



248

Item 27.



249

Item 27.



250

Item 27.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 10/07/24 MEETING



251

Item 27.



252

Item 27.



253

Item 27.



254

Item 27.



255

Item 27.



256

Item 27.



257

Item 27.



258

Item 27.



259

Item 27.



260

Item 27.



261

Item 27.



262

Item 27.



263

Item 27.



264

Item 27.



265

Item 27.



266

Item 27.



267

Item 27.



268

Item 27.



269

Item 27.



270

Item 27.



271

Item 27.



272

Item 27.



273

Item 27.



274

Item 27.



275

Item 27.



276

Item 27.



277

Item 27.



278

Item 27.



279

Item 27.



280

Item 27.



281

Item 27.



282

Item 27.



283

Item 27.



284

Item 27.



285

Item 27.



286

Item 27.



287

Item 27.



288

Item 27.



289

Item 27.



290

Item 27.



291

Item 27.



292

Item 27.



293

Item 27.



294

Item 27.



295

Item 27.



296

Item 27.



297

Item 27.



298

Item 27.


	Top
	Item 1.	Council Minutes 09-16-24
	240916MINUTES

	Item 2.	Receive & File Bond Bids
	1. bond sale bids council.mem
	2. Credit_Opinion-City-of-Cedar-Falls-IA-Update-27Sep2024-PBM_1421215
	3. Cedar Falls (193) - Sale-Award 2024 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes (02408931x7F7E1)

	Item 4.	Ord.3079-Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages
	1. CC Memo TA24-002.alcohol regs ch.5
	2. Outdoor Service Area Ordinance tracked changes 8.23.24
	3. Liquor License Adoption Ord.final (1) (1)

	Item 5.	Ord.3080-Chapter 12, Human Relations
	1- Memo HRC Ordinance Change 9-3-24 Final
	2- HRC Ordinance Sec. 12-2 Amendment For Council
	3- HRC Ordinance Sec. 12-2 Amendment For Council-Final

	Item 6.	1. Ord.3081-Chap. 19-14: Streets & Sidewalks
	Memo to Mayor Council Ordinance changes September 3 2024
	2. Ordinance Amendment Section 19-14 Final

	Item 7.	2. Ord.3082-Chap. 3-46 & 7-93: Advertising & Buildings & Building Regs.
	Ordinance Repeal 3-46 and 7-93-Redline
	2. Ordinance Repeal 3-46 and 7-93-Final

	Item 8.	3. Ord. 3083 Chap. 7-275 & 25-29: Buildings & Building Regs. & Vehicles for Hire
	Ordinance Amendment 7-275 and 25-29-Redline
	2. Ordinance Amendment 7-275 and 25-29-Final

	Item 9.	4. Ord. 3084 Chap. 7-276, 7-311, 10-73 & 13-103: Buildings & Building Regs-Bonds, etc.
	Ordinance Amendments Sections 7-276 7-311 10-73 13-103-Redline
	2. Ordinance Amendments Sections 7-276 7-311 10-73 13-103-Final

	Item 10.	Committee of the Whole Minutes 09-16-24
	09-16-2024 Committee of the Whole Minutes

	Item 11.	College Hill SSMID
	College Hill SSMID-Materials for Council

	Item 12.	Liquor -Beer 10-07-2024
	Retail alcohol 10-7-24

	Item 14.	Assessment-887 Maucker Road
	Assessment 887 Maucker Rd Mowing 10-07-2024

	Item 15.	Assessment-1119 Calumett Drive
	Assessment 1119 Calumett Dr Mowing 10-07-2024

	Item 16.	Assessment-1309 State Street
	Assessment 1309 State St Mowing 10-07-2024

	Item 17.	Assessment-2013 Maplewood Drive
	2177_001

	Item 18.	Assessment-5719 Westminster Drive
	Assessment 5719 Westminster Dr 10-07-24 Mowing

	Item 19.	Assessment-6000 Chancellor Drive
	Assessment 6000 Chancellor Dr 10-07-24 Mowing

	Item 20.	Downtown SSMID
	SSMID City Letter - FY2026

	Item 21.	Warranty Deed-1621 E. Ridgewood Dr.
	Memo to Mayor, Council 1621 E Ridgewood acquisition
	2. Warranty Deed 1621 E Ridgewood Dr
	3. Res.1621 E. Ridgewood Dr

	Item 22.	Payment Standards for Housing Choice Voucher Program
	Memo to City Council  - Payment Standards for 2024

	Item 23.	Certified Local Government (CLG) Grant Contract-Overman Park Neighborhood
	1. Memo on CLG grant contract X
	2. Overman Park Survey_CLG Goods - Service Contract final_Urbana signed
	3. Survey Map

	Item 24.	PSA - Snyder & Associates, Inc.-Prairie Parkway & Viking Rd.
	1. SA Memo - Prairie Parkway and Viking Road Intersection Improvement Project
	2. Supplemental Agreement

	Item 25.	Set PH-FFY23 CDBG-Consolidated Annual Performance & Evaluation Report
	Memo to Council -  Set PH for CAPER FFY23

	Item 26.	Set PH-Zoning Code Text Amendment – Accessory Dwelling Units
	1. Memo_Accessory Dwelling Units 10.7.2024
	Accessory Use Standards in Ordinance Form.fv

	Item 27.	Bills and Claims
	1 Daily Invoices 100724
	2 Council Invoices 100724

	Bottom

